

East Tennessee State University Digital Commons @ East Tennessee State University

**Electronic Theses and Dissertations** 

Student Works

December 1979

# A Pilot Training Program for Improving Resident Physicians' Teaching Skills

Barbara K. Lawson *East Tennessee State University* 

Follow this and additional works at: https://dc.etsu.edu/etd Part of the <u>Teacher Education and Professional Development Commons</u>

# **Recommended** Citation

Lawson, Barbara K., "A Pilot Training Program for Improving Resident Physicians' Teaching Skills" (1979). *Electronic Theses and Dissertations*. Paper 2856. https://dc.etsu.edu/etd/2856

This Dissertation - Open Access is brought to you for free and open access by the Student Works at Digital Commons @ East Tennessee State University. It has been accepted for inclusion in Electronic Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of Digital Commons @ East Tennessee State University. For more information, please contact digilib@etsu.edu.

# **INFORMATION TO USERS**

This was produced from a copy of a document sent to us for microfilming. While the most advanced technological means to photograph and reproduce this document have been used, the quality is heavily dependent upon the quality of the material submitted.

The following explanation of techniques is provided to help you understand markings or notations which may appear on this reproduction.

- 1. The sign or "target" for pages apparently lacking from the document photographed is "Missing Page(s)". If it was possible to obtain the missing page(s) or section, they are spliced into the film along with adjacent pages. This may have necessitated cutting through an image and duplicating adjacent pages to assure you of complete continuity.
- 2. When an image on the film is obliterated with a round black mark it is an indication that the film inspector noticed either blurred copy because of movement during exposure, or duplicate copy. Unless we meant to delete copyrighted materials that should not have been filmed, you will find a good image of the page in the adjacent frame.
- 3. When a map, drawing or chart, etc., is part of the material being photographed the photographer has followed a definite method in "sectioning" the material. It is customary to begin filming at the upper left hand corner of a large sheet and to continue from left to right in equal sections with small overlaps. If necessary, sectioning is continued again-beginning below the first row and continuing on until complete.
- 4. For any illustrations that cannot be reproduced satisfactorily by xerography, photographic prints can be purchased at additional cost and tipped into your xerographic copy. Requests can be made to our Dissertations Customer Services Department.
- 5. Some pages in any document may have indistinct print. In all cases we have filmed the best available copy.



300 N. ZEEB ROAD, ANN ARBOR, MI 48106 18 BEDFORD ROW, LONDON WC1R 4EJ, ENGLAND

8008359

LAWSON, BARBARA KINDERNAY

.

A PILOT TRAINING PROGRAM FOR IMPROVING RESIDENT PHYSICIANS' TEACHING SKILLS

East Tennessee State University ED.D. 1979

University Microfilms

International 300 N. Zeeb Road, Ann Arbor, MI 48106 18 Bedford Row, London WC1R 4EJ, England

.

,

# A PILOT TRAINING PROGRAM

FOR IMPROVING RESIDENT PHYSICIANS " TEACHING SKILLS

A Dissertation

Presented to

the Faculty of the Department of Supervision and Administration East Tennessee State University

٩.

In Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree Doctor of Education

> by Barbara K. Lawson

December, 1979

# APPROVAL

This is to certify that the Advanced Graduate Committee of

#### BARBARA KINDERNAY LAWSON

met on the

<u>10th</u> day of <u>August</u>, 19<u>79</u>.

The committee read and examined her dissertation, supervised her defense of it in an oral examination, and decided to recommend that her study be submitted to the Graduate Council and the Dean of the School of Graduate Studies in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree Doctor of Education in Educational Supervision.

Chairman, Advanced Graduate Committee

Dean, School of Graduate Studies

Signed on behalf of the Graduate Council

.

#### Abstract

## A PILOT TRAINING PROGRAM

# FOR IMPROVING RESIDENT PHYSICIANS' TEACHING SKILLS

by

#### Barbara Kindernay Lawson

The purpose of this study was to design, implement, and evaluate a pilot training program on teaching skills and determine if such a program could significantly improve the teaching behavior of resident physicians in the East Tennessee State University College of Medicine.

A total of 20 subjects, which included 13 resident physicians from the Department of Internal Medicine and seven from the Department of Family Practice, participated in the study. The majority of physicians were in their first year of residency and were divided among four hospitals and one family practice center. The subjects did not know they were part of a study.

A training program was developed which was based upon goals and objectives designed to meet the needs of the particular residents involved in the study. For 13, weekly, one-hour sessions, the program coordinator met with each group of residents at their respective, assigned locations. Emphasis was placed upon an effective evaluation of the program, which included a videotaped, independently-rated pre- and posttest teaching performance by each resident. A special form, the Instructional Skills Evaluation Instrument (ISEI), was designed for use in the ratings. At the conclusion of the program, residents were asked to complete a written evaluation of the training experience. Six null hypotheses were tested for significance beyond the .05 level. The <u>t</u> test, the Pearson Product-Moment Coefficient of Correlation and the chi-square tests were utilized.

As a result of the intensive analysis of the data collected, it was found that: (a) there was a very significant mean gain score from the pre- to the posttest of the residents' independently-rated, videotaped teaching performances; (b) the mean gain score for delivery skills was significantly lower than those for the organization, explaining, and use of audiovisuals categories; (c) a positive, but not significant, correlation was exhibited between the residents' post-program attitude toward a teaching skills program and their total gain score; (d) at the conclusion of the program, a highly significant number of residents experienced a positive change in attitude, from that originally held, toward participating in a teaching skills program; (e) no significant correlation existed between residents' self-evaluation scores and the independent raters' scores assigned to the same posttests; (f) when residents were asked to rank the four types of evaluative feedback received on teaching during the program, instructor critique and selfevaluation via videotape were ranked higher than viewing models and

peer evaluation; (g) there was a positive relationship between attitude and attendance and between residents' age and initial attitude toward the program; and (h) most physicians expressed satisfaction with, and felt they had benefited by, the training experience.

Based upon the findings of this study, the following conclusions were drawn: (a) short training programs could be conducted during the residency period which produce significant, observable changes in physicians' teaching behavior; (b) an equal gain in mastery of skills might not be manifested; (c) the post-program attitude seems to have a greater relationship to achievement than the initial attitude; (d) attitudes toward participating in a teaching skills program may be significantly changed in a positive direction; (e) residents might not evaluate their own teaching in the same manner as the independent raters; (f) preferences in type of feedback on teaching is likely to vary with individuals, but instructor critique and self-evaluation via videotape seem to be favored; (g) residents' age, achievement, and attendance seem to be positively correlated with attitude toward improving instructional skills; and (h) the residency period appears to be a good time to offer a teaching skills program. Recommendations for conducting training programs designed to improve resident physicians' teaching skills and for future research were offered.

. . . . . . . . . . .

Dissertation prepared under the direction of Dr. Charles G. Beseda, Dr. William L. Gaby, Dr. Gem Kate Greninger, Dr. Albert C. Hauff, Dr. Leo M. Harvill, and Dr. A. Keith Turkett. Dedication

to

my children

Patricia and Thomas

Love is . . .

.

accepting without always understanding

.

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

A deep sense of appreciation and gratitude is extended to those individuals who gave of their time, expertise, industry, and friendship during an important period of my life. For their assistance in the completion of this study, I thank my committee. I am especially indebted to Dr. Charles Beseda, who directed this study, for his interest and the many hours he so willingly devoted to videotaping the teaching performances. To Dr. Keith Turkett and Dr. Allen Meyer goes a particular note of thanks for their continued sense of humor and earnest efforts during the process of being trained as raters and evaluating the videotaped pre- and posttests. Special recognition for his ready assistance, advice, and availability is due Dr. Leo Harvill, under whose auspices this study was conducted. Many thanks to Amelia Schumaier for her good-natured persistance in the computer analysis of the data and to Ginny McKinney for her friendship and gracious willingness to assemble materials and provide assistance. I am grateful to my sister, Cynthia Ballard, for her many hours of proofreading and helpful suggestions. To my parents, goes a warm and loving expression of thanks for helping me to recognize the value of an education and sustaining my efforts. My deepest gratitude is to my husband, Jim, for his loving and steadfast support, encouragement, and assistance.

ví

# CONTENTS

.

.

Pa	ge
APPROVAL	11
ABSTRACT	11
DEDICATION	v
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	vi
TABLE OF CONTENTS	ii
LIST OF TABLES	ix
Chapter	
1. INTRODUCTION	1
Statement of the Problem	3
Limitations of the Study	3
Assumption	3
Hypotheses	4
Significance of the Study	4
Definitions of Terms	6
Procedures	10
Organization of the Study	11
2. LITERATURE	12
Topics of Research	12
Summary	32
3. METHODOLOGY	34
Selection of Subjects	34
Design of the Study	36

tiv .
Chapter Pag
Treatment of Data
Setting of the Program
Equipment
Instruments
Procedures
Reliability of Raters
4. ANALYSIS
5. SUMMARY
Introduction
Findings
Recommendations
SELECTED BIBLIOGRAPHY
APPENDIXES
A, PRE-PROGRAM TEACHING ASSIGNMENT
B. INSTRUCTIONAL SKILLS NEEDS ASSESSMENT
C. PROGRAM EVALUATION QUESTIONNAIRE
D. INSTRUCTIONAL SKILLS EVALUATION INSTRUMENT
E. LESSON PLAN AND DELIVERY EVALUATION GUIDES 11
F. QUESTIONING/DISCUSSION EVALUATION GUIDE
G. LECTURE EVALUATION GUIDE
H. PROGRAM GOALS AND OBJECTIVES
I. INTER- AND INTRA-RATER RELIABILITIES
VITA

.

.

.

. .

•

# LIST OF TABLES

1

.

.

.

Table		Page
1.	DESCRIPTION OF THE GROUPS OF SUBJECTS	35
2.	MEETING SCHEDULE FOR THE FIVE GROUPS OF RESIDENTS	38
3.	SCHEDULE OF TEACHING SKILLS PROGRAM FOR RESIDENTS	43
4.	MEANS, STANDARD DEVIATIONS, GAIN SCORES, AND <u>t</u> VALUES FOR INDEPENDENTLY RATED FRE- AND POSTTESTS FOR TOTAL VIDEOTAPED GROUP AND TWO SUBGROUPS	53
5.	RATER IDENTIFICATION OF RESIDENTS' PRE- AND POST- TESTS AND AVERAGE, ASSIGNED SCORES FOR THE FOUR SUBCATEGORIES OF SKILLS AND TOTAL TESTS	55
6.	MEANS, STANDARD DEVIATIONS, GAIN SCORES, AND <u>t</u> VALUES FOR TOTAL VIDEOTAPED GROUP AND TWO SUBGROUPS ON FOUR INSTRUCTIONAL SKILL CATEGORIES	57
7.	SUMMARY MATRIX OF <u>t</u> VALUES FOR DIFFERENCES IN MASTERY OF FOUR INSTRUCTIONAL SKILL CATEGORIES FOR TOTAL GROUP	58
8.	CORRELATION OF PRE- AND POST-PROGRAM ATTITUDES TOWARD A TEACHING SKILLS PROGRAM WITH GAIN SCORES FROM PRE- TO POSTTEST	60
9.	INITIAL AND FINAL ATTITUDES TOWARD PARTICIPATING IN A TEACHING SKILLS PROGRAM AS VIEWED IN RETROSPECT	61
10.	SUMMARY OF RESIDENTS' ATTITUDE CHANGES TOWARD PARTICIPATING IN A TEACHING SKILLS PROGRAM	62
11.	CHI-SQUARE ANALYSIS OF INITIAL AND FINAL ATTITUDE TOWARD PARTICIPATING IN A PROGRAM ON TEACHING SKILLS (N =14)	63
12.	SELF-EVALUATION VERSUS RATER EVALUATION OF RESIDENTS! VIDEOTAPED POSTTEST TEACHING PERFORMANCE	б4
13.	SELF-EVALUATION VERSUS RATER EVALUATION ON FOUR SKILL CATEGORIES OF RESIDENTS' VIDEOTAPED POSTTESTS	65

Table

14.

15.

16.

17.

18.

19.

20.

21.

22.

23.

24.

25.

26.

•

		Page
RESIDENTS' PREFERENCE IN FORMS OF EVALUATIVE FEEDBACK RECEIVED ON TEACHING	••	67
CHI-SQUARE ANALYSIS OF THE RESIDENTS' PREFERENCE IN FORMS OF EVALUATIVE FEEDBACK RECEIVED ON TRACHING		69
	• •	00
CORRELATIONS BETWEEN SELECTED FACTORS AND RESIDENTS' ATTITUDE, ATTENDANCE, AND ACHIEVEMENT	• •	70
RESIDENTS' EXPRESSED INTEREST IN LEARNING ABOUT VARIOUS INSTRUCTIONAL TECHNIQUES AS INDICATED ON THE NEEDS ASSESSMENT QUESTIONNAIRE (N =19)	1 ●	71
RESIDENTS' RESPONSES TO FIVE QUESTIONS ON THE NEEDS ASSESSMENT QUESTIONNAIRE (N = 19)		72
RESIDENTS' DEGREE OF SATISFACTION WITH DIFFERENT COMPONENTS OF THE TEACHING SKILLS PROGRAM AS INDICATED ON THE PROGRAM EVALUATION QUESTIONNAIRE (N = 14)		74
ANALYSTS OF RESPONSES BY DEPARTMENT ON COMPONENTS		
OF PROGRAM WHICH ELICITED DISSATISFACTION	•	75
RESIDENTS' PERCEIVED VALUE OF SKILLS LEARNED IN PROGRAM (N = 13)	•	77
RESIDENTS' PERCEIVED VALUE OF SKILLS LEARNED IN PROGRAM ACCORDING TO DEPARTMENT		78
RESIDENTS' RESPONSES TO TWO QUESTIONS ON THE PROGRAM EVALUATION QUESTIONNAIRE ABOUT THE CONTINUED		
OFFERING OF THE TEACHING SKILLS PROGRAM (N = 14) $\dots$	•	7 <del>9</del>
ATTITUDE MEANS FOR TOTAL GROUP AND TWO SUBGROUPS OF RESIDENTS TOWARD PARTICIPATING IN A TEACHING		
SKILLS PROGRAM	•	80
RESIDENTS' PRE- AND POST-PROGRAM ATTITUDE TOWARD HAVING THEIR TEACHING VIDEOTAPED (N = 14)	•	81
CHI-SQUARE ANALYSIS OF RESIDENTS' FRE- TO POST-PROGRAM ATTITUDE CHANGES TOWARD HAVING THEIR TEACHING		

VIDEOTAPED (N = 14)  $\dots$  81

.

.

x

.

•

#### CHAPTER 1

#### INTRODUCTION

Research in the field of medical education has emphasized subjectmatter content and curricular organization, transition from pre-medical to medical training, selection of students, and factors which characterize medical schools. Attention to the teacher and teaching practices has been virtually ignored until the present decade, with the exception of a few studies beginning in the 1950's, which attempted to assess existing teaching practices and attitudes among medical school instructors (Jason, 1962). Results from studies such as the "Project in Medical Education" at the University of Buffalo School of Medicine in 1956 (Miller, 1957) and the comprehensive "Preliminary Report of the Faculty Development Survey" published by the Association of American Medical Colleges in 1977, support the need for continued research into and improvement in medical school educational practices. Subsequent research (Jason, 1962, 1973; Stritter, Hain, and Grimes, 1975; Arshem, 1971; Daggett, Cassie and Collins, 1979; Maddison, 1978) has reported similar findings.

Until the 1960's, almost nothing was done to promote the instructional competencies of the medical profession. The programs that have been developed are almost exclusively for the full-time faculty members of medical schools (Jason, 1973). As medical education is increasingly conducted outside the traditional university hospital setting in community hospitals and offices, however, a growing number of community practitioners are becoming involved in patient and student instruction.

Support for engaging these physicians as instructors is growing with the recognition that the university setting is inadequate as the "exclusive" base for the preparation of physicians and that a medical student's education should include contact with the limitations of the "real world" of community health (Stritter, Hain, and Grimes, 1975). These clinical practitioner-educators are beginning to question the nature of effective clinical teaching (Stritter, Hain, and Grimes, 1975).

Physicians are required to impart clinical knowledge and skill to medical students, yet in their medical education most have had little formal contact with teaching except as recipients. Considering the importance of the physician's role in patient education, medical student education, and continued self-education, physicians should be competent teachers. Competent teachers don't just happen, however, but need to be cultivated (Jason, 1973). Teacher training programs, therefore, will have to be developed to assist physicians in the process of instructional improvement. A need for such programs, designed and supervised by educational specialists, is supported increasingly in contemporary literature and is being recognized by a growing number in the medical profession. Such programs are important not only for full-time faculty but also for community practitioners who will have an increasing role in the education of medical students and for resident physicians who also assume the responsibility for some of the clinical instruction of medical students and fellow residents.

In addition to implementing training programs, more effective evaluations are needed. Most evaluations consist of pencil and paper questionnaires or related instruments whereby participants critique the program (Kahn, Cohen, and Jason, 1979). Measurement of behavioral

changes is rarely a part of the evaluation but should be if the effectiveness of the program is to be determined and reliable feedback obtained for improvement.

## Statement of the Problem

The problem was to design, implement, and evaluate a pilot training program to improve the teaching skills of resident physicians in the East Tennessee State University College of Medicine.

# Limitations of the Study

 The participants in the study were limited to the resident physicians in the Departments of Family Practice and Internal Medicine, East Tennessee State University College of Medicine.

2. The duration of the program was 13 weekly sessions from April through June, 1979.

3. Student evaluations of the residents' teaching skills were not obtainable since medical students were not available for residents to teach during the period of this study.

4. The content and instructional methods selected for the program were limited to those aspects of teaching deemed most relevant to the residents based upon a review of the literature, a needs assessment, the opinion of educators, and a pretest.

# <u>Assumption</u>

In conducting the study, the following assumption was made: The responses to the questionnaires were based upon the participants' true feelings.

#### Hypotheses

1. There will be a significant gain in the mean score from the pretest to the posttest independent rating of residents' videotaped teaching performances.

2. There will be significant differences in the residents' pre- to posttest mean gain scores when the four instructional skill categories measured by the Instructional Skills Evaluation Instrument are compared.

3. Attitude toward participating in the program on teaching skills will have a significant positive correlation with the residents' total gain scores from the independent ratings of the pre- and posttests.

4. At the conclusion of the program, a significant number of residents will indicate on the evaluation questionnaire that their initial attitude toward participating in a teaching skills program had changed in a positive direction.

5. Self-evaluations by residents of their own videotaped posttests will produce scores which have a significant positive correlation with the scores assigned by the independent raters to the same posttests.

6. When asked to rank the four types of evaluative feedback received on their teaching, the residents will list self-evaluating the videotapes of their own teaching as their first choice over instructor evaluation, peer evaluation, and viewing "models."

# Significance of the Study

The need for training programs to improve the instructional skills of physicians and medical faculty has been recognized and is well documented (Jason, 1962, 1973; Brown, 1971; Miller, 1957; Preliminary Report, Association of American Medical Colleges, 1977). Attempts are being made to meet this need through various types of faculty development programs (Beard, 1967; Nerup, Thomsen, Vejlsgaard, 1972; Martin, 1970; Mitchell, 1979; Anderson, Gale, Tomlinson, 1974), but there is a dearth of information on how to teach faculty in higher education to instruct their students (Gregory and Hammer, 1974). Considerable research is needed in the areas of identification of skills, exploring and developing various techniques necessary to teach these skills, scientifically evaluating the effectiveness of such programs, determining the optimal length of time for such programs, and determining where the optimal point is in a physician's training for a program on teaching skills.

Considering the limited time available to physicians for attending educational courses, along with the apparent need for such courses, efforts should be made to identify methods which will expedite the acquisition of teaching skills in the shortest time possible. Research indicates that "microteaching", a relatively new method for improving instructional skills, has much to offer (Allen and Ryan, 1969).

Most faculty development programs in medical schools have been designed for the full-time faculty members. A few opportunities for teaching experiences are being provided for medical students but physicians in residence have been largely neglected. Yet these individuals do much of the clinical teaching of medical students, along with physicians who are part-time practitioner-educators, and are the source of future clinical and full-time medical faculty. For several reasons, an opportune time to involve physicians in a program for improving teaching skills seems to be during the residency period. Logistically, the residents are easier to assemble as a group over an extended period of time and participation can be expected on a more regular basis. Practicing physicians seldom have the time to devote to anything more than brief workshops. Medical faculty are often more reluctant to enroll in a teacher training program, pride probably being a potent factor (Prentice, Metcalf, and Hard, 1976). Since residents are expected to assume some responsibilities for teaching medical students, the opportunity exists for continued practice of newly acquired teaching skills.

Participating in a program designed to improve teaching skills should not be considered a waste of time for the residents who will not become medical faculty members or practitioner-educators. In many instances the terms "doctor/patient" and "teacher/student" contain the same elements. Patient education should be an important aspect of any medical practice and, therefore, physicians should be able to communicate effectively with their patients during the processes of listening, explaining, directing, questioning, and clarifying. In addition, physicians are often called upon to present medical information at grand rounds as well as at various professional and civic meetings and should have the necessary skills to do so effectively.

### Definitions of Terms

# Attitude

The term attitude was defined as "a mental and neural state of readiness, organized through experience, exerting a directive or dynamic influence upon the individual's response to all objects and situations with which it is related" (Fishbein, 1967, p. 8).

#### Clinical teaching

Clinical teaching was defined as a method of instruction in medical education characterized by the use of multiple instructors and the involvement of a small number of students. The instruction occurs in community hospital settings and offices removed from the university and emphasizes the basic clinical skills of history taking, physical examination, and the synthesis of all data into a differential diagnosis.

## <u>Closure</u>

Closure was used to indicate an instructional technique which directs the learner's attention to the completion of a specific task or learning sequence (Brown, 1975).

#### Family Practice Center

The family practice center was designed to train physicians in the speciality of family practice. The program is community based and sponsored by the Department of Family Practice of East Tennessee State University College of Medicine.

#### Formative evaluation

Formative evaluation referred to the ongoing measurement of intermediate effects of the program in order to gain continuous evaluative information to help in the development of the program (Jason, 1973; Anderson, Ball, and Murphy, 1975).

## Grand Round

The grand round was defined as a clinical teaching technique in medical training, usually at the postgraduate level, which occurs in most instances away from the ward and with large audiences. Patients

to be discussed are usually chosen for their rarity and research interest, and discussion between individuals of widely different interests and experience occurs.

#### Learning

Learning was used in this study to identify the process through which an individual acquires a new capability that may be identified as a more or less permanent change in behavior resulting from experience such as acquiring new information, a new skill, or an attitude.

#### Microteaching

Microteaching was used to describe a training concept which provided the residents with a scaled-down practice setting for instruction characterized by brief lessons on a narrow topic taught to a small group of residents (Allen and Ryan, 1969; Brown, 1975).

## Modeling (model)

Modeling was used to define the utilization of filmed, videotaped, or "live" ideal examples of the kind of teaching behavior asked for in a specific task (Gregory, 1972).

#### Program coordinator

The term program coordinator was used to identify the agent who designed and managed the learning activities of the program in order to achieve greater success in learning.

#### Resident physician (resident)

A resident physician was defined as a medical doctor taking advanced training in a speciality area.

# Self-evaluation

Self-evaluation was used to describe the process of making a judgment about some characteristic of one's teaching (Good, 1959).

#### <u>Set</u>

Set was used to identify any pre-instructional device or technique which prepares individuals for learning by directing their attention to a specific task or learning sequence (Allen and Ryan, 1969; Brown, 1975).

#### Summative evaluation

Summative evaluation referred to the independent, objective, final assessment of the overall effectiveness of the program. Some valid judgments were made about the degree to which the residents progressed in meeting the established goals and objectives from their entry level to their exit level (Jason, 1973; Anderson, Ball, and Murphy, 1975).

#### Teaching skills/behaviors

Teaching skills included those psychomotor, cognitive, and attitudinal instructional skills which could be observed and evaluated in behavioral terms.

#### Teaching ward round

The teaching ward round was defined as a clinical teaching technique used in the training of physicians and characterized by "bedside" instruction. A patient is selected by a student who presents the case history and physical findings at the bedside. The instructor explores with the group the patient's problem and differential diagnosis in depth.

#### Procedures

The resident physicians in the Departments of Family Practice and Internal Medicine, East Tennessee State University College of Medicine, participated in a program designed to improve teaching skills. The residents were not aware that they were involved in a study.

On the basis of information derived from several sources, the content of the program was developed. A review of the literature, facilitated by ERIC, DATRIX, PASAR, and MEDLINE computer searches, was conducted. A needs assessment questionnaire was developed, tested, and administered to the residents (see Appendix B). Following the needs assessment, a pretest assignment, which consisted of a videotaped teaching performance by each resident, was given and evaluated using the Instructional Skills Evaluation Instrument (ISEI) to identify strengths and weaknesses in teaching skills. The pretest assignment and evaluation instrument can be found in Appendixes A and D, respectively. In order to eliminate, circumvent, or cope with specific problems associated with resident physicians and a residency program, educational and medical specialists were consulted.

The training program was implemented in April 1979, and continued for 13, weekly, one-hour sessions. The program coordinator traveled to each of the five locations where residents were assigned and conducted the meetings during the residents' regularly scheduled conference time.

In order to assess the effectiveness of the program, intermediate and final evaluations of the residents' progress were made at the conclusion of the program. Residents were asked to reteach their original pretest assignment, making any modifications which would improve the presentation. This posttest was also videotaped and two independent raters, whose intra- and inter-rater reliability had been established, evaluated the randomly ordered pre- and posttests. In addition, residents expressed their views about the program by completing a questionnaire during the concluding session (see Appendix C).

## Organization of the Study

Chapter 1 contains an introduction to the study, a statement of the problem, the significance of the study, the limitations and assumption of the study, and the statement of the hypotheses. Definitions of terms, descriptions of the procedures, and organization of the study are also included.

Chapter 2 is a review of the literature.

Chapter 3 contains the methods and procedures by which the study was conducted.

Chapter 4 contains a statistical analysis of the findings of the study.

Chapter 5 includes the summary, conclusions, and recommendations of the study.

#### CHAPTER 2

#### LITERATURE

#### Areas of Research

#### Studies on Teaching Practices in Medical Schools

Medical schools have given little attention to the teacher and teaching practices. Pioneering studies of teaching in medical education arose largely from the work of G. E. Miller (1956), whose efforts were primarily classroom based. Studies on clinical teaching were not undertaken until the 1960's (Daggett, Cassie, and Collins, 1979). Early investigations of teaching in a medical setting found a lack of any reliable information about existing teaching practices and attitudes among medical instructors.

Studies such as the "Project in Medical Education" at the University of Buffalo School of Medicine in 1956 were undertaken to begin to provide the lacking data. Three hundred and eighty instructors at seven medical schools in the United States were observed by a six-member team composed of a combination of medical and educational faculty and doctoral students. The Medical Instruction Observation Record (MIOR) was the instrument used in the descriptive study. The results indicated a relatively large proportion of instructors lacked effective instructional skills and further research into educational practices in medical schools was recommended.

The Association of American Medical Colleges Published a "Preliminary Report of the Faculty Development Survey" in 1977. The

results of this nationwide study were based upon respondents' written self-reports and, therefore, were more likely an estimate of what faculty members thought they should be doing rather than what they were actually doing. Some of the findings described in the study were:

 The majority of physicians taught in a clinical setting (use of multiple instructors, small groups, and often at the patients' bedside).

2. Most of the physicians (80%) had never had any exposure to a formal college course on education/teaching.

3. A large number (60%) had never attended any workshop or training session dealing with the process of instruction.

4. Most physicians (72% to 96%) never read publications such as <u>Medical Education</u>, <u>Journal of Higher Education</u>, <u>Journal of Medical</u> <u>Education</u>, or <u>Review of Educational Research</u>.

5. Physicians stated that their style of teaching was most influenced by (a) their own intuition/judgment, (b) the way they were taught, and (c) formal and informal feedback from students. Formal training in education and workshops on teaching were listed by most (79% and 70%, respectively) as factors which did not apply at all when considering one's teaching.

6. When teaching undergraduate medical students, over half (61%) of the faculty were frequently in a classroom/conference room setting.

7. The instructional method most used was the small group discussion (65%) followed by the lecture (56%). Clinical instruction was utilized next most frequently (44%). Methods used very infrequently, or never, included programmed instruction, self-instructional materials, and computer assisted instruction. 8. Educational resources most often used in teaching were slides, handouts, and texts, while audiotapes, overhead transparencies, motion pictures, video tapes, and simulations were seldom used.

9. For seeking assistance or advice on instructional issues and problems, faculty colleagues within the department were most often sought. The literature and students were listed next most frequently, in that order. Educational specialists were seldom called upon.

10. Types of programs in which medical faculty would be most
likely to participate were listed as: (a) critique of teaching by
students, (b) observation and critique of teaching by peers, and
(c) programs of self-assessment of teaching with confidential feedback.

11. Concerning level of interest in receiving help with various components of instruction, most interest was expressed in (a) formulating instructional objectives, (b) lecturing, (c) leading small group discussions, (d) evaluating (student performance, one's own instructional effectiveness, and course quality), and (a) using instructional technology. Least interest was expressed in (a) interpersonal skill development, (b) computer assisted instruction, (c) individualized instruction, and (d) producing and using simulations.

### Medical Teacher Effectiveness

Training needs at all levels in the medical profession are growing at an enormous rate. As Christopher J. Daggett, Josephine M. Cassie and George F. Collins (1979) stated,

> At all levels, there is a need for broadened training programs. However, the number of medical schools is limited. There are only so many spaces for incoming students and there are only so many faculty members available to train them. Hence, it is necessary that schools become much more efficient and effective in

their work with students. Materials and facilities must be economized and roles must be examined and changed where necessary. Every aspect of training must be considered from pre-medicine courses all the way through residency training. (p. 151)

Teaching effectiveness, especially in the area of clinical teaching, is one aspect of medical training which should receive major consider-"It is this critical phase of medical training that potentially ation. can have the most impact on students' application of medical knowledge to patient care" (Daggett et al., 1979, p. 152). Yet there was a paucity of research on what constitutes effective clinical teaching and little emphasis on teaching skills per se. There were several articles which stated in general terms what would be appropriate skills for a clinical instructor such as the ability to formulate educational objectives (Stritter, 1972), be open and responsive to trainees, encourage student participation, and be an effective model of clinical behavior (Daggett et al., 1979). Other studies on clinical teaching practices raised some issues which implied the need for developing a systematic approach to clinical teaching and to design and implement appropriate teacher training programs (Payson, 1965; Miller, 1968; Mumford, 1970; Jackson and Mantle, 1977; Engel, 1971).

In general, researchers found clinical teaching to be haphazard, mediocre, and lacking in intellectual excitement (Daggett et al., 1979). Some of the common failings pointed out were: (a) a low emphasis on showing physician-patient interaction, (b) a lack of active participation with feedback when learning skills, (c) a failure to review basic science material on ward rounds, (d) a lack of teaching about "syndromes and concepts", (e) a lack of clarity and organization in discussions about differential diagnoses, (f) teaching information on ward rounds not

being related to the objectives, (g) a lack of preparation by attending physicians for ward rounds, (h) a failure to evaluate interns' or residents' clinical skills, and (i) case presentations often not very organized, clear, or concise, and recommendations for improvement rarely offered (Daggett et al., 1979; Elrick, 1968).

Teaching effectively requires certain skills. Most teachers at lower levels in the educational system are trained in those skills but for some reason university instructors are expected to have some divine dispensation. As M. A. Simpson (1972) expressed, "it seems to be assumed that the ability to teach will somehow appear by spiritual rapport or by chance" (p. 48). Such thinking must change if teaching effectiveness is to improve.

In a study on clinical teaching (Stritter et al, 1975), the 16 most effective clinical teaching behaviors were identified as:

1. Answers carefully and precisely questions raised by students.

2. Approaches teaching with enthusiasm.

3. Explains the basis for his actions and decisions.

4. Provides students with opportunities to practice both technical and problem solving skills.

5. Summarizes major points.

6. Corrects without belittling.

7. Demonstrates a genuine interest in students.

8. Strives to make difficult concepts easy.

9. Emphasizes conceptual comprehension rather than merely factual recall.

10. Willingly remains accessible to students.

11. Provides competent patient care.

- 12. Approaches teaching with dynamism and energy.
- 13. Prepares well for rounds and other contact with students.

14. Explains lucidly.

15. Identifies what he considers important.

16. Discusses practical applications of knowledge and skills.

The best clinical teachers were described as enthusiastic, clear, well-organized, adept at interacting with students and residents, having a broad breadth of medical knowledge, accessible, and possessing clinical competence. The worst teachers were characterized by a lack of organization, boring presentations, insensitivity to others, limited knowledge, dogmatism, and inaccessability (Irby, 1978).

Competencies required by medical instructors (Jason, 1973) include:

1. The capacity to define appropriate goals and objectives.

2. The ability to select the most appropriate strategies for achieving goals and objectives (be familiar with a range of choices and possess the different skills demanded by different instructional approaches).

3. The ability to perform effective student evaluation as well as self-evaluation.

4. The ability to use questioning techniques and lead small group discussions.

5. The ability to supervise students in a clinical setting (critiquing and giving feedback as well as demonstrating patient care).

6. The ability to organize and present a lecture.

7. The ability to use audio-visuals effectively.

#### Teacher Training Programs for Physicians

The need to improve standards of teaching in medical schools is being increasingly recognized. The 1973 World Health Organization's report on the training of teachers in medical schools and related training institutions "noted widespread evidence of serious deficiencies in present educational practices, some of which can be corrected by training teachers in the social application of educational principles" (Hall and Brooks, 1976, p. 183). Charles H. Bazuin and Annette M. Yonke (1978) described the lack of significant effort given to the systematic development of teaching skills in medical schools. They stated that faculty members,

> learn to teach by remembering how they were taught (usually their bad experiences), by practicing on students, and by receiving guidance from senior faculty members. Thus, those concerned with medical education recognize there is a serious need for the training of teaching faculty in medical schools, especially for the education of clinicians in the task of clinical teaching. (p. 377)

In medical schools throughout the United States clinical faculty members are being asked to assume instructional responsibilities in ever increasing number. These faculty members are expected to develop their teaching skills while maintaining their clinical and research expertise. According to Jason (1973), physicians "should" serve as instructors and, therefore, should be given the preparation and support they require to effectively fulfill such responsibilities. Few medical students are given the opportunity to learn about the teaching process during their student days. During residency periods physicians often serve as teachers of medical students, nursing staff, and other residents, but the experiences are generally without preparation and guidance (Doyle and Balsley, 1979). Bad habits often form under these circumstances rather than skills being developed and improved (Jason, 1973). In a survey conducted by R. S. Brown (1971), residents indicated that more than 40 percent of their learning came from other house staff members. Despite the lack of training for teaching, many physicians do find themselves in an instructional setting, but seldem has help been available at any point resulting in many physicians being dissatisfied with their teaching and their efforts not well regarded by students.

In the 1970's, there has been a greater emphasis upon assessing and improving teaching skills of medical instructors. Most programs have been designed, however, for the full time medical faculty members while the clinical instructor has been relatively neglected (Irby, DeMers, Scher, and Matthews, 1976; Daggett et al., 1979; Fenley, 1979; Miller, 1979). A few programs for clinical instructors have been described in the literature but focused mainly on in-service workshop on lecturing skills (Hoban, Carroll, Agna, 1979; Byrne, Harris, and Long, 1976; Arsham, 1971; Hull and Brooks, 1976) or on training residents and graduate students in skills of classroom teaching (Lazerson, 1972; Carroll, 1977; Prentice, Metcalf, Sharp, and Hard, 1976). No systematic training programs for residents who do much of the clinical teaching have been reported. The following three plans are indicative of efforts which have been made to improve resident physicians' teaching skills.

Brian B. Doyle and Ellen Balsley (1979) described an adaptation of traditional clinical supervision to assist one chief psychiatric resident to develop her teaching skills. Under the guidance of her supervisor, the resident's task was to teach clinical psychiatry to first-year residents. The initial period of the resident's training consisted of

reading suggested articles, reviewing videotapes of teaching models, and observing and critiquing her supervisor's teaching with a small group of medical students. During the second period of the training the chief resident assumed teaching responsibility for the weekly case conference and became the discussant in one to two conferences per month. To evaluate the year's conferences, the residents were asked to complete a questionnaire. The chief resident and supervisor evaluated their experiences verbally to each other and in written reports to the department. They described their experiences as enjoyable and useful.

Another plan specifically for resident physicians in psychiatry was discussed by Alan M. Lazerson (1972). The program, designed to prepare residents to become better teachers, was based on the premise that "... mastery of content alone is not considered to be sufficent background for teaching" (p. 576). The program spanned the three years of residency and allowed the residents to gain teaching experience under the supervision of the School of Education faculty. The first year of residency offered the opportunity for a brief, intensive experience in teaching about adolescence to education majors. The opportunity to teach courses in regular college evening classes, which met once a week, was provided during the second and third years of residency. Additional experiences, such as teaching at the School of Medicine, could also be selected during the third year.

A third program reported for surgical residents and intern staff was at the University of Virginia Medical Center. The program consisted of eight 90-minute seminars held in place of surgery conferences to avoid an additional conference. The purpose of the program was to provide current information regarding the processes of teaching and

learning to prepare this group for teaching medical students. Participation was voluntary, and the instructors were selected primarily from the School of Education at the University of Virginia. Written pretests and posttests were administered to the program participants. The evaluation of the program indicated that the participants felt they had benefited by the experience. The major criticism of the program seminars was that they were not sufficiently practical for the clinical teaching situation. Other participants felt that too much was covered in too short a time and that the educational jargon was, at times, overwhelming (Brown, 1971).

Implications from research on clinical teaching and results from established training programs support a strong need for the continued development and evaluation of such programs along with research into the roles of clinical teachers. A summary of findings from the evaluation of implemented teacher training programs for physicians included:

1. A program for improving teaching effectiveness should be tailored to fit the particular situation in which it will be used and be responsive to each instructor's needs (Irby et al., 1976).

2. The program participants should be involved in the planning of the program (Irby et al., 1976; Kleffner, 1979).

3. Time considerations often prevent physicians from engaging in training programs. Self-instructional formats allowing for self-pacing is an alternative which may successfully overcome this problem (Foley, Smilansky, Bughman, 1978).

4. An abundance of active participation should be planned for as well as practice with prompt, nonthreatening feedback, and verbalization of what is being learned (Gregory and Hammar, 1974; Gaff, 1975).

5. For significant and lasting change to occur, the program participants' attitude must be influenced as well as their ideas and cognition (Gaff, 1975).

6. Program participants must have the belief that change is desirable and that they can change in desired ways (Gaff, 1975).

7. The textbook is of limited value in programs of this type (Brown, 1971).

8. Major obstacles to effective clinical teaching by physicians include physical "tiredness", failure to recognize the value of their teaching role, conflicting priorities for time, and frequently changing rotations (Brown, 1971).

9. Clinical and full-time medical faculty tend to place teaching on the bottom of a list of priorities which poses as a large obstacle when attempting to implement teacher-training programs (Stritter et al., 1975); Mitchell, 1979). This negative attitude and neglect of the development of improved standards of teaching is characteristic of higher education in general. Some possible explanations for such attitudes include (a) the difficulty of demonstrating the benefits of training teachers, (b) the feeling that mastery of a body of knowledge is a sufficient qualification, and (c) the techniques used to train teachers in higher education may have been at fault since conventional courses in teaching method are viewed with hostility and are judged irrelevant. Some successful formats, however, have been reported (Elton and Simmonds, 1977).

10. Teacher-trainers have found that they helped their trainees most when they involved the trainees in the process of identifying behaviors needing improvement, provided feedback about the trainees' teaching from observations of their teaching behavior, devised a program for bringing about the changes, provided feedback on progress, and followed up on how the trainees maintained their new behavior across time (Aspy, 1978).

11. The use of videotape for recording and providing feedback on teaching practices has been very frequently used with success (Foley et al., 1978; Bazuin and Yonke, 1978; Stritter and Hain, 1977; Hall and Brooks, 1976). The presence of a certain degree of anxiety in individuals being videotaped seemed to be consistent, however, when conducting programs in which teaching was videotaped and assessed (Foley et al., 1978). Furthermore, those with a positive self-concept, self-esteem, and self-image tend to benefit most from the observation of their behaviors (Britt, Kim, and Mynatt, 1979).

12. Rarely did reported teacher training programs extend over more than a three week period. Most were one to three day workshops. Further research is needed to determine the optimal period of time over which the sessions should extend.

13. The leadership team which seemed to function most effectively for clinical teaching programs includes an educational specialist and one health professional instructor who has given considerable thought to the dynamics of the teaching-learning process (Stritter and Hain, 1977).

#### Evaluation of Programs

Training programs and workshops which have been developed were often lacking one important ingredient, an adequate evaluation of the program in terms of actual behavioral changes in participants' teaching as
a result of the training program. Gathering data with questionnaires and rating scales has been the most common method of evaluation used but is not sufficient. This point was strongly emphasized in a study (Koen, 1976) which involved evaluating an evaluation of a faculty educational development program. Personal achievement was consistently overestimated when external criteria were not clearly evident. The results of this study suggested that two conditions contribute to accurate selfevaluation of learning via scale ratings. One is the accurate assessment of the learners' competence and the other is the learners' direct comparison of their performances with an external criterion.

According to Tamas Fulop (1978), teacher training programs need to undergo a systematic evaluation which should consist of:

> a pretest, followed by a built in feedback mechanism used to inform both students and teachers continuously about progress. Then there should be a final assessment which would show whether or not the objectives had been achieved, and a continuous follow-up in order to ascertain the extent to which knowledge, skills, and attitudes gained had been put into practice. The methods of evaluation should be carefully selected bearing in mind that they must make it possible to measure whether or not the ultimate goals had been reached, i.e. to change attitudes and improve skills. (p. 45)

Moreover, "failure to engage systematically in evaluation in reaching the many decisions necessary in education means that decision by prejudice, by tradition, or by rationalization is paramount" (Dressel, 1961, p. 6). "Evaluation can be most helpful if it is built into a program from the outset" (Gaff, 1975, p. 78).

In a summary of research on the effects of training programs for university teaching assistants, J. Gregory Carroll (1978) identified approximately 85 studies. The studies included pre-experimental pretest-

postiest, quasi-experimental, and experimental designs. A number of studies reported significant effects on observed teaching behavior. When assessing student variables, quasi-experimental studies generally found significant effects, whereas true experimental studies generally did not. The two types of studies, however, tended to assess different types of training programs. Carroll concluded that substantially more effort ought to be devoted to assessing the effects of training programs rather than simply describing innovative ways of conducting such programs. He also pointed out that "the considerable amount of research on observed teaching behavior does generally indicate that programs designed to promote specific teaching skills will indeed generate changes in observable teaching behavior for one or two semesters" (Carroll, 1978, p. 41). Further research is needed, however, on cognitive and affective gains of the program participants and the degree to which individuals actually implement the training.

## Role of Professional Educators

Through careful planning and design, it is possible to instruct physicians in the basics of educational thought and practice so that teaching becomes purposeful rather than accidental. Clinical teachers do not require extensive training in education to be effective. They must, however, be aware of the basic principles of teaching and learning (Elrick, 1968; Stritter et al., 1975).

D. N. Aspy (1978) strongly recommended that teacher trainers develop a set of professional skills which will help teacher-physicians become more effective instructors. In support of Aspy's recommendation, the groups conducting studies such as the "Project in Medical Education" by

the University of Buffalo School of Medicine found that the most effective evaluation team in assessing medical teaching practices was one consisting of a combination of medical and educational faculty. An educational specialist, working in the field of the health professions, can assist the medical faculty and residents by providing an exposure to and experience with modern education theory and practice. This exposure must be planned to provide minimum interference with other priority items, however, and the experience must be brief, intense, and relevant to the teaching needs of the faculty members or resident physicians (Elrick, 1968; Byrne and Cohen, 1973).

There are close parallels in medicine between practice and teaching which should be put to good use in training programs. "The patient's (student's) needs must be identified, their nature and etiology assessed; a program of treatment (education) developed, based on clearly defined objectives; and the outcome of treatment (and education) assessed" (Wright and Knox, 1977, p. 48). The processes of teaching and clinical practice can reinforce one another if properly handled so as to clarify unfamiliar educational procedures by using familiar clinical methods. Such a strategy can help minimize the hostility and confusion which many training programs trigger when the language of education is not used with care (Wright and Knox, 1977).

#### Microteaching

There has been extensive research on the use of microteaching to improve the instructional process (McKnight and Baral, 1969; Peck and Tucker, 1973). The results, though inconclusive, indicate that microteaching is an effective training strategy both as to results and in

cost effectiveness.

During the summer of 1963, the Secondary Teacher Education Program at Stanford University experimented with a new laboratory experience for preparing teaching interns which was called "microteaching." The idea was to give interns pre-service teaching experience in a structured laboratory setting where the risk of failure was low and opportunities for refining teaching skills were high. The lessons were limited from five to twenty minutes, the number of students ranged from one to five. and the instructional task for each lesson was well defined. Students were videotaped at the beginning and conclusion of the program as well as periodically during the program. Through independent ratings of diagnostic teaching held at the end of the summer, it was found that "microteaching - prepared teachers performed better than those with standard preparation, even though the total time involvement in the microteaching clinic was less than ten hours per week as compared with the twenty-five-hour-a-week commitment required by the student teaching experience" (Allen and Ryan, 1969, p. v.). James L. Olivero (1970) stated that over 80 percent of time was saved in teaching activities by using the microteaching program at San Jose State University in the 1967 summer intern-teaching program compared to the conventional offcampus student-teaching experiences.

During the 1966-67 academic year, two professors at the University of Illinois, Arye Perlberg and D. C. O'Bryant, conducted a study to explore ways to improve college teaching. Higher education does not have a history of giving formal attention to the process of teaching, and most college instructors have received little or no training in how to teach. There is growing discontent over the quality of college

teaching among students, administrators, and college teachers themselves. Microteaching, in conjunction with the use of videotapes, was selected as the primary means for improving instruction and proved to be successful. A few other universities have tried microteaching to improve instruction with similar results (Allen and Ryan, 1969).

The concept of microteaching was expanded and described by Dwight Allen and Kevin Ryan (1969). These authors viewed microteaching as a training concept for the professional development of teachers which was based upon five essential propositions:

> First, microteaching is real teaching even though the setting is constructed into a practice situation. Second, the complexities of a normal teaching situation are reduced to provide a less-threatening environment for practice. Third, microteaching focuses on specific tasks which may involve the practice of instructional skills or techniques of teaching, the mastery of curricular materials, or the demonstration of teaching methods. Fourth, microteaching allows for controlled practice since time, students, methods of feedback and supervision, and other factors can be manipulated. Fifth, the use of several sources of immediate feedback provides maximum insight into the teaching performance which greatly expands the normal knowledge-of-results of feedback dimension in teaching. (pp. 2-3)

While microteaching, one is required to incorporate specific teaching strategies into short lessons ranging from five to twenty minutes in length. When not teaching, one may assume the role of a student for another teacher. In addition, one acts as observer and evaluator, providing feedback through written and verbal comments on microlessons taught by one's colleagues (Gregory, 1972). Microteaching is designed on a teach-reteach cycle which includes six steps (Gregory, 1972):

Teach cycle:

1. Prepare a microlesson.

2. Teach the microlesson.

3. Receive feedback (oral, written, and recorded).

Reteach cycle:

4. Reorganize your microlesson in light of the feedback received.

5. Reteach the microlesson.

 Again receive feedback particularly focusing on the improvements that have or have not been made.

The reteach phase is viewed as optional depending upon the complexity of the task and how well the teach cycle was accomplished.

The effectiveness of the described approach can be enhanced by providing ideal examples, or models, of the desired teaching behavior. The models can be presented by film or audio or videotape recordings with the instructor providing cues to focus the teacher's attention on the strategies involved in the task. This procedure aids in the development of the ability to identify the desired behaviors and improve the quality of feedback the group will give one another (Allen and Ryan, 1969). Also, research indicates that "models can be so influential that a teacher's behavior can be changed simply by observing the behavior of others and the consequences of that behavior" (Gregory, 1972, p. 8).

A change in attitude is an integral part of changing behavior and "one of microteaching's very real, though almost totally undocumented characteristics is its power to change attitudes. The self-knowledge gained through its system of feedback has the power to alter attitudes about oneself as a teacher" (Gregory, 1972, p. 10). In other words, a teaching behavior change can occur with microteaching largely through changes in attitude and perceptions (Ford and Morgan, 1976).

Videotaping is not an essential part of the microteaching process but can strengthen the process by displaying models of the various teaching skills and providing a powerful source of feedback for understanding one's own teaching performance. Microteaching has been carried out successfully, however, without the use of this equipment (Allen and Ryan, 1969). Initially, many trainees are nervous about having their teaching performances videotaped. This reaction soon wears away, however, once the benefits of the procedure are discovered (Allen and Ryan, 1969; Gregory, 1972). The initial viewing of oneself on videotape also commonly generates what is referred to as the "cosmetic effect", a self conscious reaction and concern about one's personal appearance and mannerisms. Allen and Ryan (1969) suggested avoiding too much instruction during this initial viewing of oneself and allowing the short-lived cosmetic effect to wear off. An emphasis on the favorable aspects of the lesson during the first viewing and critique session is best.

James M. Cooper and Dwight W. Allen (1971) summarized research findings about microteaching by stating the following generalizations:

 Using a microteaching format, teach-critique/ reteach-critique, positive changes in teacher behavior can be achieved which result in a larger repertoire of teaching behaviors.
 Trainee acceptance of microteaching as a relevant training procedure is high.
 The feedback dimension of microteaching is probably the crucial one in terms of changing the trainee's behavior.
 This feedback can come from several sources, but the most powerful combination seems to be one

that utilizes supervisory comments, videotape recordings, and pupil (peer) comments. 5. A perceptual model that demonstrates positive instances of the desired behavior rather than a mixture of both positive and negative, is more powerful in enhancing the trainee's ability to acquire the skill in a transfer task. 6. For certain skills, a perceptual model is preferred over a written description of the skill, while for other skills the evidence is inconclusive. (pp. 17-18)

Some conclusions drawn by Olivero (1970) on microteaching included

the following:

1. Trainees who received feedback changed the behaviors defined as "development of aims" and "teacher-pupil communication" more than trainees who received no feedback. Therefore, if a change in selected behaviors is to occur, trainees need to know how well they are doing on these behaviors. Trainees who have the opportunity to see 2. themselves perform and to receive verbal feedback from supervisors make greater changes in behavior defined as "understanding of aims" than those who receive verbal feedback only. In view of the findings, it appears that the trainee and the supervisor used the picture on the monitor to establish a common frame of reference, thereby facilitating the constructive criticisms presented by the supervisor.

3. The condition of observation of teaching performances from pre-recorded videotapes was not significantly superior to the live observations of teaching performance with the supervisor present in the room. Although the picture on the monitor may eliminate some irrelevant stimuli, allowing the supervisor to focus on the teaching performance, it may also eliminate some relevant stimuli that should have a bearing on the teacher's performance. (p. 11)

Microteaching should not be regarded as a panacea for solving all the instructional problems of teachers. The method is not appropriate to the acquisition of all skills and cannot miraculously transform a dull teacher into an intellectually exciting teacher. More study and research are needed before the full potentials and limitations of microteaching are known. Nevertheless, microteaching can provide a unique setting for training and for research in teaching. "There are few teachers who would not benefit from the highly focused practice and feedback which are the basic components of microteaching" (Allen and Ryan, 1969, p. 8).

#### Summary

Research findings in the area of teaching practices in medical schools indicated that a relatively large proportion of instructors lack effective instructional skills and place a low priority on the improvement of these skills. The need to improve medical instruction, especially in the area of clinical teaching, is being recognized, however, by a growing number in the profession. Training programs designed to improve teaching skills and supervised by educational specialists can give physicians the assistance and preparation they require to effectively fulfill their teaching responsibilities.

Most programs that have been developed were for full-time medical faculty, whereas, resident physicians, who do much of the clinical teaching, have been virtually ignored. A few programs for residents have been reported in the literature but were not of the systematic kind.

Programs and workshops which have been developed to improve teaching skills generally lacked an adequate evaluation of the program's effectiveness. Measurement of actual behavioral changes in participants as a result of the program was rarely accomplished. Gathering data with questionnaires and rating scales was the most common method. of evaluation used. Considering the limited time available to physicians, training programs should be designed to achieve maximum success in the shortest time possible. The microteaching method for developing certain instructional skills meets these requirements. Research has demonstrated that this method can improve teaching skills as effectively as other methods but in less total time. Microteaching has also been shown to have the power to alter attitudes about oneself as a teacher.

#### CHAPTER 3

#### METHODOLOGY

The primary purpose of this study was to determine if a program on teaching skills conducted in one-hour weekly sessions over a 13 week period could significantly improve the teaching behavior of resident physicians in the Departments of Family Practice and Internal Medicine in the East Tennessee State University College of Medicine. Other factors which were considered included the residents' attitude toward improving their teaching skills in relation to the degree of improvement, the residents' perceptions of the value of self-evaluation via videotape, modeling, peer evaluation and instructor evaluation in changing their teaching behaviors, and the residents' ability to assess their own teaching performance.

# Selection of Subjects

The subjects of the study included seven residents in the Department of Family Practice and 13 residents in the Department of Internal Medicine, East Tennessee State University College of Medicine. Seventeen of the 20 resident physicians were in their first year of residency training, two were in their second year and one was in his third. These residents were divided among five locations. The family practice residents were located at the Bristol Family Practice Center, Bristol, Tennessee, while the internal medicine residents were distributed among four hospitals in Johnson City, Kingsport, and Bristol, Tennessee. A sixth group, consisting of ten family practice residents, elected not to participate in the program for several reasons. The predominant reason was a negative attitude toward being involved in a program on teaching skills. A descriptive analysis of the group of residents is given in Table 1.

Tai	b1e	1

Department	Number of Residents	Location
Family Practice	7	Bristol Family Practice Center, Bristol, Tenn.
Internal Medicine	3	Holston Valley Hospital, Kingsport, Tenn.
Internal Medicine	2	Johnson City Memorial Hospital, Johnson City, Tenn.
Internal Medicine	5	Veterans Administration Hospital, Mountain Home, Tenn.
Internal Medicine	3	Bristol Memorial Hospital, Bristol, Tenn.
Total	20	

Description of the Groups of Subjects

Only resident physicians were selected as subjects for the pilot program. A regularly scheduled meeting time could be established for them over an extended period of time, and the program was incorporated into the residents' scheduled conferences with their participation expected for the duration of the program. The residents were not informed that they were part of a study.

## Design of the Study

A formative and summative evaluation (Jason, 1973; Anderson, Ball, and Murphy, 1975) of the pilot training program was accomplished. Formative evaluation consisted of periodically assessing the residents' progress (see Appendixes E, F, and G for evaluation guides), obtaining oral feedback concerning satisfaction with the program, and recording behaviors related to residents' attitude toward participating in the program. Summative evaluation involved the assessment of the residents' improvement in teaching skills from pre- to posttest by independent raters whose inter- and intra-rater reliability had been established. The ISEI, with criteria based upon the objectives of the program, was used by the raters to evaluate the tests. Additional data were derived by analyzing the responses to a program evaluation questionnaire which was administered to the residents at the conclusion of the program.

### Treatment of Data

The correlated  $\underline{\mathbf{L}}$  formula was employed to test for a significant mean gain score derived from pretest and posttest data associated with hypotheses one and two. This  $\underline{\mathbf{L}}$  test was appropriate since two positively correlated measures for the same subjects composed the data (Popham and Sirotnik, 1973). To test for a significant relationship between attitude and gain score for hypothesis three and between self-evaluation scores and rater-evaluation scores for hypothesis five, the Pearson Product Moment Coefficient of Correlation was utilized. The chi-square test for a significant difference between expected and observed frequencies was employed to analyze the nominal level data associated with hypotheses

four and six. For hypothesis four, the residents' stated change in attitude toward a program on teaching skills, from the beginning to the conclusion of the program, was analyzed. For hypothesis six, residents' preference for self-evaluation via videotspes of their teaching compared to three other forms of evaluative feedback received during the program was examined. The six null hypotheses were tested at the .05 level of significance, and a one-tailed test was used except for hypothesis two.

## Setting of the Program

The College of Medicine at East Tennessee State University is one of the medical schools established under the Teague-Cranston Act. The first class of medical students was accepted in the fall of 1978. At the time of the program, the Departments of Family Practice and Internal Medicine had resident physicians who would assume some of the clinical teaching responsibilities of these medical students as they entered the various hospitals and Family Practice Centers for their clinical training.

The program was conducted at each of the five locations where residents were assigned, with each group having a specified time and day of the week for its meetings. The program coordinator traveled to the different locations for the weekly sessions. A conference room and any necessary audiovisual hardware were available at each site. The schedule of meetings is illustrated in Table 2.

## Equipment

### Videotape Hardware and Software

A sony A-V 8650 videotape recorder and Sony DXC-1600 video camera with an Altec 6898 microphone on a boom were used to record the residents' pre- and postest teaching performances. The performances were recorded in black and white on one-hour, reel-to-reel tapes. Each performance was then dubbed onto individual videocassettes to allow for individual viewing and self-evaluation as well as the randomization of the pre- and posttest performances for the independent raters.

Tab	le 2
-----	------

Meeting Schedule for the Five Groups of Residents

Location	Day	Time
Bristol Family Practice Center	Monday	1:00-2-00 p.m.
Holston Valley Hospital (Internal Medicine)	Wednesday	2:30-3:30 p.m.
Johnson City Memorial Hospital (Internal Medicine)	Thursday	2:00-3:00 p.m.
Veterans Administration Center (Internal Medicine)	Thursday	3:30-4:30 p.m.
Bristol Memorial Hospital (Internal Medicine)	Friday	12:00-1:00 p.m.

## Instruments

## Needs Assessment Questionnaire

Prior to the implementation of the program, each resident completed a questionnaire which identified interests, perceived needs, and priorities regarding the improvement of teaching skills. Information about the residents' attitudes toward participating in a program for improving teaching skills, toward one's teaching being recorded on videotape, and toward spending time engaged in such a program was also obtained. Residents were asked to list any prior teaching experience or training in educational pedagogy they may have had. A scaled response mode from one to five was provided for most responses in order to obtain interval level data for more rigorous statistical analysis (Tuckman, 1972). A copy of the questionnaire is in Appendix B.

Residents were asked to sign the questionnaire which was necessary for comparative studies of initial and follow-up data as well as for the development of the program's content. Names were not used in reporting the data and responses were kept confidential.

The needs assessment questionnaire was constructed by the investigator and reviewed by educational specialists. Before its use, the questionnaire was tested on a group of medical faculty members at East Tennessee State University.

## Program Evaluation Questionnaire

The program evaluation questionnaire was constructed to gather information concerning the residents' satisfaction with various aspects of the program, such as the duration of the program and methods used, and assess their perception of the value of the skills emphasized in the program. A response scale of one to five was provided. The residents were asked to rank the four types of evaluative feedback they received according to the degree of influence each had on affecting changes in their teaching behavior. In the concluding portions of the questionnaire, constructive criticism of the program was requested (see Appendix C for a copy of the program evaluation questionnaire). The residents responded to this instrument during the program's final session. The questionnaire was designed by the investigator and validated by faculty members in the Colleges of Medicine and Education.

#### Instructional Skills Evaluation Instrument (ISEI)

In order to evaluate the pre- and posttest teaching performances of the residents, a rating instrument was developed by the investigator. Criteria were selected in accordance with the objectives of the program and categorized under the appropriate teaching techniques. A copy of the Instructional Skills Evaluation Instrument (ISEI) is in Appendix D. Items were scored on a four point scale, ranging from "optimal" to "unfulfilled", according to how well they were performed. A fifth option, "not applicable", was provided and was checked when the item was not relevant to the particular presentation. Directions for interpretation of each level of the scale were provided.

Face and content validity were determined by a group of educators with expertise in the area of teacher evaluation who reviewed the instrument and reached a concensus of opinion. Reliability of the instrument was established during the process of training the independent raters and determining their intra- and inter-rater reliability.

# Procedures

In developing the program, a model was followed which contained the following four steps:

Step I: Identification of the goals and objectives of the program. This step involved the following activities.

1. A survey of the literature was conducted utilizing ERIC, DATRIX, PASAR, and MEDLINE computer searches. The current status of medical teaching practices, efforts being made to improve teaching in medical schools, and current research on what constitutes and how to evaluate effective clinical teaching were reviewed.

2. Individuals involved in faculty development programs in medical schools across the United States were contacted by telephone and correspondence in order to ascertain what types of programs had been implemented thus far.

3. A needs assessment questionnaire was administered to the prospective participants in the program. Assessing the physician's perceptions of his own needs was important because "a person must become aware of his own deficiencies before he will undertake to correct them through learning" (Brandt, 1975, p. 396).

4. The residents were given a pretest teaching assignment in which they were asked to select a topic and demonstrate their ability to present a lecture, use questioning techniques in a small group discussion, and use audiovisuals (see Appendix A for a copy of the assignment). One week was allowed for preparation of the assignment which was then recorded on videotape. The pretest videotaping sessions involved small groups of three to four residents, each group being taped within one session. The program coordinator evaluated the teaching performances and assessed needs. The residents were also requested to view their own tapes and evaluate them using a list of criteria characteristic of "effective" lecturing, questioning, and use of audiovisuals.

5. Two main goals were selected for the program and specific objectives were developed for each skill. A complete listing of program goals and objectives is in Appendix H.

6. After the specific objectives were selected, the final version of the ISEI, to be used by the independent raters when evaluating the pre- and posttests, was developed. The criteria in the instrument were based upon the objectives of the program.

In summary, the decisions regarding the skills to be emphasized during the program were based upon input from several sources. The sources included (a) discussions with medical faculty members regarding the nature of clinical teaching, (b) an assessment of the resident's perceived needs, (c) a review of related literature, (d) an evaluation of the residents' actual teaching ability recorded on videotape, and (e) the opinion of educators.

Step II: Design of the Program.

With the support and guidance of the Assistant Dean of Educational Resources in the East Tennessee State University Medical School and faculty from East Tennessee State University College of Education, a program on teaching skills was planned for the resident physicians. The content was selected in accordance with the stated objectives of the program. The instructional strategies and necessary instructional aids and audiovisuals were identified and related practice activities were developed for each skill.

Five instructional packages were designed for the teaching skills to be studied. The five packages were titled: (a) Objectives and Planning, (b) Delivery Techniques, (c) Discussion/Questioning Techniques, (d) Demonstration Techniques/Design and Use of Audiovisuals, and (e) Lecture Techniques. Each package contained the goals and objectives of the lesson, a complete discussion of the skill, practice activities, and a bibliography. A folder containing xeroxed copies of related articles and research reports was prepared to complement each instructional package. Folders were placed in each of the five conference rooms to be used by those residents interested in a more in-depth study of a particular skill.

The format for seven of the 13 sessions consisted of an introductory, informal lecture on the particular skill under study followed by a discussion session to clarify points, monitor understanding, and assess attitudes. Practice activities concluded the session. Videotapes and films of "model" teaching behavior were shown and other audiovisuals were incorporated into the sessions whenever appropriate. Four meetings were planned "practice" sessions and allowed the residents to try out the teaching techniques on their peers and receive evaluative feedback on their teaching performances. The last two sessions were spent videotaping and evaluating the posttest teaching performances. The organization of the program's 13 sessions is outlined in Table 3.

#### Table 3

Schedule of Teaching Skills Program for Residents

Session	Topic
1. April 2-6	Introduction
-	A. Explanation of program
	B. Discussion of effective teaching and showing of a videotape.
	C. Distribution of first instructional pack- age on objectives and lesson planning.
2. April 9-13	Objectives and Planning
-	A. Lecture and discussion on objectives and planning.
	B. Complete activities in package.
	C. Assignment - package on delivery techniques.
3. April 16-20	Delivery Techniques
-	A. Discussion of delivery techniques.
	B. Film on delivery techniques.
	C. Assignment - prepare a five to ten min- ute lesson demonstrating delivery tech- niques and lesson plauning.

Sea	sion	Topic
4.	April 23-27	Practice of Planning and Delivery Techniques A. Present lesson - critique. B. Assignment - discussion/questioning techniques package.
5.	April 30-May 4	<ul> <li>Discussion/Questioning Techniques</li> <li>A. Lecture/discussion of discussion/questioning techniques.</li> <li>B. Show videotape model on questioning.</li> <li>C. Assignment - prepare to lead a five to ten minute discussion with questioning.</li> </ul>
6.	May 7-11	Practice of Discussion/Questioning Techniques A. Teaching presentations on discussion/ questioning and critique. B. Assignment - use of A-V's and demon- stration techniques.
7.	May 14-18	Use of A-V's/Demonstration Techniques A. Demonstration on use of audiovisuals. B. Activity on designing a visual. C. Assignment - package on lecture method.
8.	May 21-25	Lecture Method A. Lecture/discussion on lecture method. B. Film. C. Assignment - plan a ten minute lecture emphasizing giving effective explanations.
9.	May 28-June 1	Practice of Lecture Method and Critique,
10.	June 4-8	Clinical Teaching. A. Discussion and application of methods to the clinical setting. B. Practice session - giving effective patient explanations.
11.	June 11-15	Clinical Teaching A. Review and discussion of handouts on clinical teaching practices. B. Revise the pretest teaching assignment and plan to present it for videotaping.
12.	June 18-22	Posttest Videotaping and Critique
13.	June 25-29	Wrap-up and Program Evaluation Questionnaire

Table 3 (continued)

The teaching methods chosen for the program emphasized active participation and were based on established principles of learning, such as feedback, practice, and reinforcement. Informal lectures and duplicated material were used to present background information. Small group discussions allowed for the exchange and clarification of ideas. For models of teaching behavior, the residents viewed videotaped and live demonstrations with the instructor providing cues to focus attention on the strategies involved in the task. After the modeling activity, the residents participated in skill practice and feedback sessions using the microteaching method. This technique for skill practice usually emphasizes the use of actual students to give reality to the teaching experience. The students used, however, should be representative of those the trainees will actually contact (Allen and Ryan, 1969). Since medical students were not available during the time the study was conducted, the conclusion was drawn that the utilization of peers was superior to the selection of nonrepresentative students.

For several reasons, the microteaching method was selected as the teaching strategy for the practice sessions in this program. Previous studies indicated that microteaching as a teaching tool can accomplish what other methods achieve but in a shorter span of time (Allen and Ryan, 1969). Since the residents' time was limited, this factor was of primary consideration. A goal of the program was to develop such qualities as critical self-evaluation and the desire for continuous improvement. The microteaching strategy fosters such qualities.

Videotaped playback of each resident's teaching was utilized as one source of feedback because it has been found to be an effective teaching tool for certain delivery and interaction skills (Robbins, Heinrich,

Abrass, Kauss, Tamkin, 1978) many of which were emphasized in the program. Viewing one's performance on videotape playback has also been shown to have a strong influence on changing attitudes (Gregory, 1972).

Step III: Implementation of the Program

The program was conducted in one-hour weekly sessions over a 13 week period from April 2, through June 29, 1979. A schedule shown in Table 2 was arranged to accomodate the five groups of residents at their respective, assigned locations.

As is outlined in Table 3, lecture-discussion-activity sessions alternated, for the most part, with practice sessions. Microteaching involved a scaled-down teaching situation wherein each resident concentrated on practicing mainly one teaching skill at a time, for example, questioning, for a short duration, usually five to ten minutes. A small amount of subject matter was used to teach a small group of peers, usually three to six. Residents received feedback on their teaching from their peers, their instructor, and self-evaluation.

The first practice session was designed to improve organizational and delivery skills. The evaluation instrument for this session is in Appendix E. Leading a discussion utilizing questioning techniques was emphasized in the second practice session. Appendix F contains the evaluation instrument for discussion/questioning techniques. Practice session three provided the opportunity to develop lecture skills (see Appendix G for the evaluation instrument), while practice session four emphasized giving patient explanations and applying various teaching skills to other clinical settings.

An attempt was made to establish a nonthreatening climate providing a situation free of harsh criticism within which the residents could work without defensiveness. The members of the group were encouraged to share information and assist each other throughout the program as well as criticize and disagree with one another in a democratic atmosphere. The utilization of such strategies has been shown to enhance critical thinking in members of the group (Zimmerman and King, 1963).

Step IV: Evaluation of the Program.

Procedures used in the evaluation process were as follows:

1. Continuous feedback from the residents was obtained throughout the program in order to identify areas requiring improvement and/or revision.

2. At the conclusion of the program, each resident was asked to revise and reteach the same topic used in the pretest according to the same criteria specified in the pretest assignment. This posttest was recorded on videotape. The pre- and posttests were transferred to individual videocassettes and were organized in matched pairs. The tapes in each pair were randomly arranged to prevent the raters from knowing which was a pre- or posttest. Using a table of random numbers, the order for viewing the pairs of tapes was determined before they were evaluated by two independent raters whose inter- and intra-rater reliability had been established. A statistical analysis of the scores was performed to test for significant gain from pre- to posttest. Following the appraisal of each pair of tapes, using the ISEI, the raters were asked to judge which tape was a pretest and which was a posttest.

3. An analysis of the residents' gain scores on the four categories of teaching skills, measured by the ISEI and evaluated by the raters, was performed in order to detect differences in degree of mastery. Objectives in the ISEI were categorized under delivery. organizational, explaining, and use of audiovisuals skills. There was some overlapping of certain objectives into more than one category. Objectives one through 11, 13, 14, 22, and 23 were considered delivery skills, while numbers 12, 14, 16, 17, 21, 22, and 23 were grouped as organizational skills. The explaining category contained objectives 14, 15, 17, 18, 19, 20, and 22, while the audiovisuals category included objectives one through three under "use of audiovisuals." Ratings assigned to the objectives within a skill category were averaged in order to obtain the residents' pre- and postcest scores for each of the four categories. Individual gains and mean gain scores for the total sample and the two subgroups of residents were calculated.

4. The number of residents experiencing a change in attitude toward participating in the teaching skills program and the direction of the change were recorded from the program evaluation questionnaire. To measure this change, residents were asked to indicate their initial and final attitudes by circling the appropriate responses on a Likert scale.

5. The residents were asked to judge their own posttest teaching performances using the same ISEI instrument as the independent raters. Self-evaluation skills acquired by the residents during the program were assessed by comparing the residents' assigned scores to posttest teaching performances with the scores given to the same performances by the independent raters.

6. A program evaluation questionnaire was administered to the residents during the final session to ascertain the value of and their degree of satisfaction with various aspects of the program.

For the purpose of this study, the program was evaluated as a process, involving the appraisal of teaching behaviors rather than

student output. Research indicated that assessing teaching behavior is as reliable as evaluating student achievement for judging "teacher effectiveness". Positive correlations have been demonstrated between selected teacher behaviors and learning outcomes (Solomon, Rosenberg, and Bezdik, 1964). The findings were supported by other researchers (Robbins, 1977; Miller, 1974; Hildebrand and Wilson, 1970) indicating that "teacher effectiveness" is largely determined by certain teaching behaviors or skills which can be evaluated. These behaviors, in turn, are positively related to student learning.

## Reliability of Raters

Two independent raters were selected to evaluate the residents' pre- and posttest videotaped teaching performances. One rater was a faculty member from the College of Medicine and the other a faculty member from the College of Education at East Tennessee State University. Both individuals had prior experience in the evaluation of instruction.

The raters were trained by the investigator to use the ISEI. Three practice sessions were held in which the instrument was explained, and videotaped teaching performances were evaluated. Raters compared and discussed their evaluations until concensus was reached. The training procedure continued until an inter-rater reliability of at least 0.80 was established. An actual inter-rater reliability coefficient of 1.0 was obtained (see Appendix I for calculations).

To determine inter-rater reliability, three videotaped teaching performances were viewed and evaluated by each rater. The statistic known as the intraclass correlation, formulated by R. L. Ebel (Guilford, 1954, pp. 395-397), was used to calculate the average intercorrelation.

To test for intra-rater reliability, the two raters viewed and evaluated, after a one-week interval, the same three videotapes using the ISEI. Each rater's second set of evaluation scores was correlated with the first set using the Pearson Product Moment Coefficient of Correlation. Two intra-rater reliabilities of 1.0 were obtained (see Appendix I for calculations).

### CHAPTER 4

#### ANALYSIS

A pilot training program, designed to improve resident physicians' teaching skills in the East Tennessee State University College of Medicine, was conducted from April 1, to June 29, 1979. Twenty residents comprised the study group, 13 being in the Department of Internal Medicine and seven in the Department of Family Practice. The subjects did not know that they were part of a study. The program coordinator conducted the meetings at five different locations in Johnson City, Bristol, and Kingsport, Tennessee, where residents were assigned. During the program, emphasis was placed upon the improvement of stating objectives and planning for instruction, delivery skills, lecture. discussion, questioning and demonstration techniques, and the use of audiovisuals. Active participation was encouraged and a democratic, informal atmosphere was maintained throughout the sessions. The microteaching method was selected for the practice of skills, since this stragegy has been shown to accomplish, in a shorter span of time, what other methods achieve.

A formative and summative evaluation of the program was conducted. Periodic assessment of the residents' progress and satisfaction with the program was made. At the conclusion of the program, observable changes in residents' teaching behavior were measured by independent raters using the ISEI.

Data were obtained from independent ratings of videotaped pre- and posttests, from two questionnaires, and from records maintained by the program coordinator. Of the 20 residents participating in the program, 19 responded to the needs assessment questionnaire, 11 were videotaped for both the pre- and posttests, and 14 completed the program evaluation questionnaire. The variations in number were the result of vacations, schedule conflicts, and four residents who did not complete the program.

The data were computer analyzed using the Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS). The correlated  $\underline{t}$  formula, the Pearson Product-Moment Coefficient of Correlation, and the chi-square were utilized to test six null hypotheses. The level of significance established for this study was .05, and a one-tailed test was used for all hypotheses except number two.

H<sub>01</sub>: There will be no significant gain in the mean score from the pretest to the posttest independent rating of residents' videotaped teaching performances.

The means, standard deviations, gain scores, and  $\underline{t}$  values for the independently rated, videotaped pre- and posttests of residents' teaching skills are presented in Table 4. The scores are shown for the total sample of 11 residents who completed the pre- and posttests and for the two subgroups which comprised this sample.

Examination of the test scores for the total sample revealed an increase in mean score from 2.846 on the pretest to 3.502 on the posttest with a minimum score of one and a maximum score of four being possible. The standard deviation was 0.357 for the pretest and 0.313 for the posttest. A mean gain score of 0.656 resulted in a  $\underline{t}$  value of 8.05 which was significant beyond the .001 level.

Table	4	

# Means, Standard Deviations, Gain Scores, and <u>t</u> Values for Independently Rated Pre- and Posttests for Total Videotaped Group and Two Subgroups

		Mean Sta		Standard	Deviation	Ga	Gain		
Group	N	Pretest	Posttest	Pretest	Postcest	Mean Difference	Standard Deviation	<u>t</u> Value	
Total	11	2.846	3.502	0.357	0.313	0.656	0.271	8.05****	
Internál Medicine	6	2.708	3.462	0.429	0.380	0.753	0.298	6.19 <sup>****</sup>	
Family Practice	5	3.010	3,550	0.163	0.245	0.540	0.202	5.97***	

Note. Maximum score = 4; minimum score = 1.

\*\*\*p < .005

\*\*\*\*\* p < .001

.

When comparing the two subgroups of residents' scores, the 3.010 pretest mean for the family practice group was higher than the 2.708 pretest mean for the internal medicine group. Posttest scores of 3.550 for family practice and 3.462 for internal medicine followed the same pattern. The gain score of 0.753 for internal medicine was greater, however, than the gain score of 0.540 for family practice. A calculated <u>t</u> value of 6.19 for the internal medicine subgroup and a 5.97 value for the family practice subgroup were significant beyond the .005 level.

Two independent raters were asked to view each resident's pre- and posttest, paired in random order, and to distinguish between the pair by stating which was the pretest and which was the posttest. The raters' accuracy in accomplishing this task is shown in Table 5. Rater A was able to correctly identify ten out of the 11 pairs while Rater B was able to identify nine. Both raters failed to distinguish between the same subject's pair of pre- and posttests (Subject #7). Examination of the breakdown of residents' individual scores (Table 5) into the four instructional skill categories shows that the pair of tests in question exhibited a lower posttest score in delivery skills than the pretest. The three other categories of organization, explaining, and audiovisuals, showed a gain from pre- to posttest. The second pair of tests (Subject #6), incorrectly identified by Rater B, had a very small gain in delivery skills compared to the other three subtests. Despite the errors in differentiation, subjects six and seven did obtain a gain in total score from pre- to posttest.

The first null hypothesis was rejected. A significant difference between the pre- and posttest means was obtained beyond the .001 level for the total videotaped group and beyond the .005 level for both sub-

# Table 5

Rater	Identifica	ations of	E Residents	Pre- and	Postests	and Average	, Assigned
	Scores <sup>a</sup> :	Eor the I	Four Subcate	egories of	Skills and	the Total	Tests

	Delivery		Delivery Organization		Explaining		Audio	Audiovisuals		tal	Identification of Pre- and Posttest	
Subject	Pre	Post	Рге	Post	Pre	Post	Pre	Post	Pre	Post	Rater A	Rater B
1	2.15	2.81	2.22	3.17	2.50	3.00	1.00	1.00	2.30	2.88	e <sup>b</sup>	 C
2	2.50	3.46	2.07	3.67	2.07	3.86	1.00	3.33	2.39	3.61	С	C
3	2.92	3.54	1.86	3.42	2,22	3.43	1.00	4.00	2.60	3.63	С	C
4	2.92	2.92	2.22	3.67	2.29	3.43	1.00	3.84	2.62	3.27	С	С
5	2.62	3.08	2.93	3.36	2.29	3.43	1.00	4.00	2.74	3.40	С	С
6	2.85	3.00	2.72	3.50	2.86	3.57	1.00	4.00	2.85	3.38	С	хc
7	2.85	2.74	2.64	3.50	3.15	3.50	3.84	4.00	2.99	3.20	x	X
8	3.08	3.58	2.57	4.00	3.00	3.93	3.33	4.00	3.06	3.80	С	С
9	3.12	3.46	2.71	3.77	3.15	3.79	3.33	3.84	3.10	3.66	С	С
10	3.08	3.50	2.65	3.58	3.15	3.79	4.00	4.00	3.16	3.69	С	С
11	3.50	4.00	3.22	4.00	3.29	4.00	3.33	4.00	3.49	4.00	C	С

Note. Maximum score = 4; minimum score = 1.

<sup>a</sup> Rounded to the nearest one hundreth.

<sup>b</sup>C = correct identification.

<sup>c</sup>X = incorrect identification.

groups of residents. Differences were prominent enough for independent raters A and B to correctly identify which tape was a pretest and which was a posttest in ten out of 11 and nine out of 11 cases, respectively.

 $H_{02}$ : There will be no significant differences in the residents' pre- to posttest mean gain scores when the four instructional skill categories measured by the ISEI are compared.

Analysis of the data for this hypothesis consisted of an examination of the mean gain scores on the four instructional skill categories and a comparison of the differences among these means. Table 6 contains pre- and posttest means, standard deviations, gain scores, and <u>t</u> values for the four instructional skill categories measured by the ISEI. Results are presented for the 11 of the 20 participants who were both pre- and posttested. Scores for the two subgroups of six internal medicine and five family practice residents are also given.

Significant gain scores beyond the .05 level occurred in all categories except in the family practice subgroup for use of audiovisuals. A gain score was exhibited in that area, but the greater variance in relation to mean difference produced a  $\underline{t}$  value of 1.59 which was not significant at the accepted level. Upon examination of the audiovisual category for the total sample and for the internal medicine subgroup, a similar pattern of greater variance was demonstrated. The larger gain scores of 1.973 for internal medicine and 1.471 for the total sample, however, resulted in significant  $\underline{t}$  values of 3.69 and 3.65, respectively, but at a lower level of significance than those for delivery, organization, and explaining. The most significant gain from pre- to posttest was achieved in the area of organization of content, with mastery of explaining skills following second.

# Table 6

# Means, Standard Deviations, Gain Scores, and <u>t</u> Values for Total Videotaped Group and Two Subgroups on Four Instructional Skill Categories

		Mean		Standard	Deviation	Ga		
						Mean	Standard	
Group	N	Pretest	Posttest	Pretest	Posttest	Difference	Deviation	<u>t</u> Value
Total Population	11							
Delivery		2.872	3.281	0.357	0.394	0.409	0.306	4.43
Organization		2,528	3.604	0.398	0.256	1.076	0.381	9.36
Explaining		2,725	3.612	0.455	0.294	0.887	0.409	7.20 <del>****</del>
Audiovisuals		2.166	3.637	1,356	0.897	1.471	1.337	3.65***
Internal Medicine	6							
Delivery		2.807	3.288	0.455	0.458	0.482	0.353	3.34**
Organization		2.385	3.572	0.498	0,280	1.187	0.392	7.42****
Explaining		2.538	3.548	0.459	0.355	1.010	0.470	5.26****
Audiovisuals		1.388	3.362	0.951	1.186	1.973	1.310	3.69**
Family Practice	5							
Delivery		2.950	3.272	0.213	0,354	0.322	0.249	2.90*
Organization		2.700	3.642	0.138	0.249	0.942	0.361	5.84***
Explaining		2.948	3.688	0.374	0.213	0.740	0.303	5.45***
Audiovisuals		3.100	3.968	1.212	0.072	0.868	1.221	1.59

Note. Maximum score = 4; minimum score = 1.

\* p <.05 \*\* p <.01 \*\*\* p < .005 \*\*\*\* p < .001

To determine if significant differences in mastery of the four instructional skill categories occurred for the total group, <u>t</u> tests were computed between gain scores. A summary matrix of <u>t</u> values for these comparisons is presented in Table 7. Achievement in delivery skills deviated to the greatest degree from gains in organizational (<u>t</u> = 5.43, p <.001) and explaining skills (<u>t</u> = 4.57, p <.001). A significant difference was also disclosed between delivery skills and use of audiovisuals (<u>t</u> = 2.59, p <.05). The gain scores for delivery skills were significantly lower than those for the other three categories.

## Table 7

Summary Matrix of <u>t</u> Values for Differences in Mastery of Four Instructional Skill Categories for Total Group

<u>Sk</u> :	<u>ill Categories</u>			
	Organization	Explaining	Audiovisuals	
Delivery	5.43****	4.57****	2.59*	
Organization		1.70	0.99	
Explaining			1.76	

\*p <.05 \*\*\*\*p <.001

On the basis of the significant <u>t</u> values for differences in mastery of the four instructional skill categories, the second null hypothesis was rejected. H<sub>03</sub>: Attitude toward participating in the program on teaching skills will have no relationship to the residents' total gain scores from the independent ratings of the pre- and posttests.

The retrospective pre-program attitude, post-program attitude, and gain acore for each of the 11 pre- and posttested residents are contained in Table 8. Examination of the means for these two attitudes revealed a higher post-program mean (3.91), or more positive attitude toward a teaching skills program, than the retrospective pre-program mean (2.55). When each mean was correlated with the residents' gain scores, in both instances, a positive correlation was disclosed. The post-program attitude had a higher correlation (0.35) with gain scores than the retrospective pre-program attitude (0.17), but neither was significant at the .05 level.

Although the statistical findings revealed a positive correlation between attitude toward participating in the program and achievement of objectives (gain scores), the statistical findings were not at the accepted .05 level of significance. The rejection of the third null hypothesis could not be justified.

 $H_{04}$ : At the conclusion of the program, there will not be any residents who indicate on the program evaluation questionnaire, that their initial attitude toward participating in a teaching skills program had changed in a positive direction.

Table 9 contains listings of pre-program and post-program attitudes toward participating in a teaching skills program. The data were obtained from the responses to the program evaluation questionnaire completed by 14 residents. Initially, on a scale from one to five, two residents were very negative, four were negative, five were indifferent, three were
Subject	Retrospective Pre-Program Attitude	Post-Program Attitude	Gain <sup>a</sup> Scores
1	3	4	0.58
2	3	5	1.22
3	2	5	1.03
4	1	4	0.65
5	1	2	0.66
6	3	4	0.53
7	4	4	0.26
8	4	4	0.74
9	2	2	0.56
10	3	4	0.53
11	2	5	0.51
	Mean 2.55	3.91	ũ,66
Correlation Coefficient	r = 0.17	r = 0.35	

Correlation of Pre- and Post-Program Attitudes Toward A Teaching Skills Program with Gain Scores from Pre- to Posttest

Table 8

Note: Attitude was based on a scale where 1 = very negative, 2 = negative, 3 = indifferent, 4 = positive, and 5 = very positive.

<sup>a</sup> The difference between the averaged pre- and posttest independent ratings, where maximum = 4 and minimum =1.

Subject	Re	trospective re~Program Attitude	Post-Program Attitude
1	·	3	4
2		3	5
3		2	5
4		1	4
5		1	2
6		3	4
7		4	4
8		4	4
9		2	2
10		3	4
11		2	5
12		3	4
13		4	5
14		2	5
	Mean	2.64	4.07

Initial and Final Attitudes Toward Participating in a Teaching Skills Program as Viewed in Retrospect

Table 9

<u>Note</u>: Attitude was based on a scale where 1 = very positive, 2 = negative, 3 = indifferent, 4 = positive, and 5 = very positive.

.

.

positive, none were very positive. At the conclusion of the program, none of the residents were very negative, two were negative, none were indifferent, seven were positive, and five were very positive.

The figures in Table 9 also reveal that, from the beginning to the conclusion of the program, all 14 residents either increased in attitude score or maintained the same one. None indicated the acquisition of a more negative attitude. These attitudal changes are summarized in Table 10.

#### Table 10

Summary	of	Rest	lder	ite	s' Attitu	de (	Chang	jes	Toward
Partici	pat	ing	in	а	Teaching	Sk	i11s	Pro	gram

Attitude	Number of Subjects <sup>a</sup>	
Became more negative	0	
Maintained same attitude	3	
Became more positive	11	

 $a_{\rm N} = 14$ 

A chi-square analysis of the changes in residents' attitude toward participating in the program appears in Table 11. The initial attitude frequencies, categorized as negative, indifferent, or positive, served as the expected frequencies to which the final (observed) attitude frequencies were compared. The data yielded a chi-square value of 34.67 (p <.001) which indicated that a significant number of residents changed attitude in a positive direction. The fourth null hypothesis was rejected since there was a highly significant number of positive attitudinal changes.

#### Table 11

Chi-Square Analysis of Initial and Final Attitude Toward Participating in a Program on Teaching Skills (N = 14)

	Negative	Indifferent	Positive	
Pre-Program Attitude <sup>a</sup>	(6)	(5)	(3)	
Post Program Attitude <sup>b</sup>	2	0	12	

<sup>a</sup>Expected frequencies <sup>b</sup>Observed frequencies \*\*\*\*<sup>b</sup> <.001

p (1002

H<sub>05</sub>: There will be no correlation of the residents' self-evaluation scores of their own videotaped posttests with the scores assigned by the independent raters to the same posttests.

The individual scores, means, and the correlation coefficient for the relationship between residents' self-evaluations of their posttests and rater evaluations of the same tests are given in Table 12. A positive but weak correlation of .11 was demonstrated between the two sets of figures. Residents consistently scored themselves lower than the raters did and frequently ranked themselves differently.

When the posttest was divided into the four instructional skill categories, as illustrated in Table 13, and examination of correlations

revealed one significant relationship in the area of audiovisual usage (.84, p < .001). Low correlations were found between rater and selfevaluations in the delivery, organizational, and explaining categories.

The fifth null hypothesis was not rejected. Statistical findings did not reveal a significant positive correlation, except in the audiovisual category, between rater and self-evaluations of videotaped posttests.

# Table 12

	<u>Total</u>	Posttest
Subject	Self	Rater
1	2,38	2.88
2	2.38	3.61
3	2.12	3.63
4	2.04	3.27
5	3.13	3.40
6	2.81	3.38
7	2.81	3.20
8	3.07	3.80
9	2.66	3,66
10	2.30	3.69
11	2.71	4.00
Me	n 2,59	3,50

Self-Evaluation Versus Rater Evaluation of Residents' Videotaped Posttest Teaching Performances

Note. Maximum score = 4; minimum score = 1

# Self-Evaluation Versus Rater Evaluation on Four Skill Categories of Residents' Videotaped Posttests

	Deli	/ery	Organ	lzation	Expla	aining	Audio	visuals
ubject	Self	Rater	Self	Rater	Self	Rater	Self	Rater
1	2.42	2.81	2.33	3.17	2.57	3.00	1.00	1.00
2	2.46	3.46	2.17	3.67	2,57	3.86	2.00	3.33
3	2.00	3.54	2.33	3.42	2.00	3.43	2.33	4.00
4	1.85	2.92	3.00	3.67	2,29	3.43	2.00	3.84
5	3.23	3.08	3.29	3.36	3.14	3.43	3.00	4.00
6	2.42	3.00	3.33	3.50	3.00	3,57	3.00	4.00
7	2.78	2.74	2.71	3.50	3.00	3.50	2.67	4.00
8	3.15	3.58	3.00	4.00	3.14	3.93	3.00	4.00
9	2.92	3.46	2.43	3.77	2.67	3.79	2.33	3.84
10	2.08	3.50	2.29	3.58	2.14	3.79	2.33	4.00
11	2.85	4.00	2.83	4.00	3.14	4.00	2.33	4.00
Mean	2.56	3.28	2.70	3.60	2.70	3.61	2.36	3.64
orrelation cefficient	r =	.16	r =	.13	r =	.27	r =	.84****

Note. Maximum score = 4; minimum score = 1.

\*\*\*\*p < .001

H<sub>06</sub>: When asked to rank the four types of evaluative feedback received on their teaching, the residents will show no preference for self-evaluating the videotapes of their own teaching over instructor evaluation, peer evaluation, and viewing "models."

Responses to that portion of the program evaluation questionnaire, where residents were asked to rank self-evaluation via videotape, instructor evaluation, peer evaluation, and viewing models according to how helpful each was in affecting changes in teaching behavior, are shown in Table 14. A rank of one indicated most helpful while a four denoted least helpful.

Examination of the mean score for each of the four types of feedback in Table 14 discloses the preferred order. Instructor feedback ranked first, with a mean of 1.64, followed by self-evaluation via videotape, with a mean of 2.43. Viewing models was placed third with a mean of 2.89 and peer evaluation was considered least helpful with a mean of 3.07. Further inspection shows that self-evaluation via videotape ranked either fairly high (1<sup>st</sup> or 2nd) or low (4<sup>th</sup>) but never third.

To test for significant differences in preference for one of the four types of evaluative feedback, a chi-square analysis was performed. The expected frequency for each of the four cells was 3.5, or 25 percent of the 14 possible responses. The observed frequencies were derived from the responses given on the questionnaire. Table 15 presents a summary of the frequencies and the chi-square values for their distributions.

Examination of the columns in Table 15 shows self-evaluation and instructor feedback to be ranked first much more often than

Table	14
-------	----

	Order of Preference						
Subject	Instructor	Self	Mode1s	Peer			
1	2	4	3	1			
2	1	2	3	4			
3	2	1	3	4			
4	1	2	3	4			
5	4	2	1	3			
6.	2	1	3	4			
7	1	4	3	2			
8	2	1	3	4			
9	2	1	4	3			
10	2	4	1	3			
11	1	2	4	3			
12	1	4	3	2 '			
13	1	2	3	4			
14	1	4		2			

Residents' Preference in Forms of Evaluative Feedback Received on Teaching

Note. The four types of feedback were ranked from 1 to 4 with 1 representing the most helpful in affecting changes in teaching behavior and 4 the least helpful.

.

.

	F	<b>n</b> .	_		
Feedback	1 <sup>st</sup>	2nd	3rd	4th	X <sup>2</sup>
Instructor	7	6	0	1	10.57**
Self-Evaluation	4	5	0	5	4.86
Models	2	O	10	2	16.86****
Peer	1	3	4	6	3.67
x <sup>2</sup>	5.99	6.00	19.13****	4.86	

Chi-Square Analysis of the Residents' Preference in Forms of Evaluative Feedback Received on Teaching

<sup>a</sup> The expected frequency in each case was 3.5 or 25% of the 14 responses. \*\*p < .01\*\*\*\*p < .001

peer evaluations or viewing models. Self-evaluation was not the most preferred form, as hypothesized, but did rank either first or second most of the time. Instructor feedback was most preferred, having the highest frequency in both first and second place.

A chi-square analysis of the columns in Table 15 produced only one significant value which was for column three. The frequency of ten, which ranked viewing models in third place, was significantly different from the expected distribution beyond the .001 level. Although not significant at the .05 level, there was a skewed distribution in columns one and two indicating a preference for instructor and self-evaluation.

In Table 15 there are two significant chi-square values for the rows, in which the frequency distribution for each of the four types of feedback is shown. The distribution for instructor feedback, predominantly in first or second place, had a chi-square value of 10.57 which was significant beyond the .01 level. The placement of viewing models mainly in third place produced a chi-square value of 16.86 which was significant beyond the .001 level.

The sixth null hypothesis was not rejected since results did not show a significant preference for self-evaluation via videotape over instructor and peer evaluation and viewing models. Instructor feedback was the preferred mode.

Data, in addition to that related to the six hypotheses were computer analyzed to gain further information for the evaluation of the program. Some significant findings are presented.

Five Pearson Product-Moment correlations were calculated between variables which were thought to have some relationship to other factors evaluated in the program. Table 16 presents a summary of these correlations. One very significant positive relationship between residents' pre-program attitude and attendance was obtained. The residents having the most negative initial attitudes were shown to have the poorest attendance record and vice versa. Another strong positive relationship, although not significant at the .05 level, occurred between residents' age and the pre-program attitudes. No significant correlations were found between age and attitude toward being videotaped, between age and total gain score, or between the number of absences and total gain score.

A needs assessment questionnaire was administered to the residents before the program began. On one portion of the instrument, residents were asked to indicate, on a one to five scale, their interest in learning about various aspects of instruction. The residents' responses are illustrated in Table 17. Greatest interest was expressed in teaching

Factor	Correlation Coefficient	Probability Level
Age: Pre-Program attitude	,42	.06
Age: Attitude toward being videotaped	.27	.17
Age: Total gain	.21	.26
Pre-Program attitude: No. of absences	.53	.02*
Number of absences: Gain score	.17	.30

# Correlations Between Selected Factors and Residents' Attitude, Attendance, and Achievement

\* p < .05

on rounds, with a total of 90% positive responses. Lecturing and discussion followed next, both having a total of 84% positive responses. These were succeeded by questioning and demonstration, each with 74%. Developing instructional packages, evaluation of students, and selfevaluation received the least expressed interest. Overall, there were few negative responses by the residents about any of the instructional techniques.

Five questions of importance in planning the program were posed to the residents on the needs assessment questionnaire. Their responses are contained in Table 18. In answer to question number one, most residents indicated they were willing to expend some effort to improve their teaching skills and felt the residency period was a good time for such an endeavor (question number two). Few residents expressed negative feelings in response to questions one and two. Concerning teaching

# Residents' Expressed Interest in Learning About Various Instructional Techniques as Indicated on the Needs Assessment Questionnaire (N =19)

 Skill	Very Negative	Negative	Indifferent	Positive	Very Positive	
 Developing Objectives	0%	07.	37%	53%	107,	
Planning and Organizing	07.	07.	37%	47%	167	
Instructional Packages	5%	5%	47%	32%	117.	
Lecturing	0%	5%	11%	42%	427.	
Questioning	0%	21%	5%	327.	427.	
Discussion	07.	0%	16%	42%	427	
Audiovisuals	0%	5%	26%	48%	217	
Teaching on Rounds	07.	0%	10%	327.	587.	
Deponstration	07.	10%	16%	37%	37%	
Evaluation of Students	0%	21%	327,	16%	317.	
Self-Evaluation	07.	0%	37%	26%	37%	

# Residents' Responses to Five Questions on the Needs Assessment Questionnaire (N = 19)

1. "How w and on weeks	illing are you e to two hours to improve you	1 to spend one 3 of independen 11 teaching sk:	hour in a gro at study per v 111s?"	oup session week for 13
Very <u>Negative</u>	Negative	<u>Undecided</u>	<u>Positive</u>	Very <u>Positive</u>
0	3	3	10	3
2. "Do yo a teac	u feel the rea hing skills p	sidency period cogram?"	is a good tim	ne to offer
Very <u>Negative</u>	<u>Negative</u>	<u>Undecided</u>	<u>Positive</u>	Very <u>Positive</u>
1	2	3	4	5
3. "Have	you had any pi	rior teaching a	experience?"	
	Yes - 13		No - 6	
4. "Have	you had any pi	rior training :	In educational	l methodology
	Үев - З		No - 16	
5. "How d	oes teaching i	fit into your i	future profes:	sional plans?
E P F T	ducation of paresentations ( resentations ( ractitioner/Pa ull-time clin: eaching studen	atients = 16 to professional art-time educat ical instructor ats in other he	l organization tor = 10 r = 1 ealth care pro	ns = 12 Dfessions = 3

experience and training, elicited by questions three and four, most residents had assumed instructional responsibilites at some point in their medical education, but most never had any training for teaching. In question five, when asked how teaching fits into their future professional plans, most residents selected education of patients, presentations to organizations, and being a practitioner/part-time educator.

At the conclusion of the teaching skills program, an evaluation questionnaire was completed by the residents. The first section obtained feedback on the residents' degree of satisfaction with various components of the program. This information is displayed in Table 19. There was a generally high degree of satisfaction with most aspects of the program and 72% of the residents were positive about having had the opportunity to participate in the program. Components eliciting noticeable dissatisfaction were in the areas of the duration of the program, the amount of time spent in practice sessions, the time required to complete outside assignments, the size of the group, and the use of videotaping.

To determine if any differences in degree of satisfaction existed between the two subgroups of residents, responses were tabulated by department. The areas exhibiting prominent variations are revealed in Table 20. Twenty-five percent of the internal medicine residents and 67% of the family practice residents were dissatisfied with the duration of the program. Concerning amount of time spent practicing skills, 12.5% of the internal medicine residents were dissatisfied compared to 34% of the family practice physicians. The situation changed, however, when the size of the group was considered, with 62.5% of internal medicine individuals being dissatisfied and none of the family practice residents indicating dissatisfaction. More family practice physicians (66%) were dissatisfied with the amount of time required to complete the outside assignments compared to the internal medicine residents (12.5%) All

	Degree of Satisfaction <sup>®</sup>					
Component	1	2	3	4	5	
Duration of program	7%	36%	14%	147.	29%	
Duration of sessions	0%	7%	14%	50%	29%	
Time of year	7%	0%	79%	7%	7%	
Skills emphasized	0%	0% ·	07.	57%	43%	
Teaching methods used	0%	7%	7%	43%	43%	
Amount of "practice" time	14%	7%.	14%	437	22%	
Handouts	7%	0%	7%.	367.	50%	
Audiovisuals used	0%	0%	21%	29%	50%	
Size of group	77.	29%	21%	29%	14%	
Time required to complete assignments	14%	21.5%	14%	29%	21.5%	
Use of videotaping	14%	7%	21%	36%	36%	
Having the opportunity to participate in this program	0%	7%	21%	36%	36%	

# Residents' Degree of Satisfaction with Different Components of the Teaching Skills Program as Indicated on the Program Evaluation Questionnaire (N = 14)

Table 19

a 1 = very dissatisfied 2 = dissatisfied

- 3 = indifferent
- 4 = satisfied
- 5 = very satisfied

T	лЪ	le	20	
- A	u v			

# Analysis of Responses by Department on Components of Program which Elicited Dissatisfaction

	Degree of Satisfaction <sup>a</sup>									
	1		2		3		4		5	
Component	I. M. <sup>b</sup>	F. P. <sup>c</sup>	I. M.	F. P.						
Duration of program	0%	17%	25%	50%	0%	337	25%	0%	50%	ി0%
Amount of "practice" time	12.5%	17%	0%	17%	12.5%	17%	50%	332	25%	17%
Size of group	12.5%	0%	50%	0%	0%	50%	25%	337	12.5%	1 77,
Time required to complete assignments	0%	33%	12.5%	33%	2 5%	0%	25%	33%	37.5%	0%
Use of videotaping	07.	0%	0%	17%	072	50%	37.5%	33%	62.5%	0%

.

<sup>a</sup> 1 = very dissatisfied, 2 = dissatisfied, 3 = indifferent, 4 = positive, 5 = very positive

<sup>b</sup> I. M. = Internal Medicine Department; n = 8

<sup>C</sup> F. P. = Family Practice Department; n = 6

internal medicine residents were satisfied (37.5%) to very satisfied (62.5%) with the use of videotaping for self-evaluative purposes. In contrast, only 33% of the family practice residents were satisfied, the majority being indifferent (50%) or negative (17%) with the videotaping of their teaching.

The second section of the evaluation questionnaire elicited responses from the residents about the value they placed on the different skills learned in the program. Examination of Table 21 reveals that only a small percentage viewed any of the skills as having little value, and another small percentage were undecided. The large majority of residents found the new skills, as well as the entire program, to be of value.

When comparing the ratings by department, presented in Table 22, differences are again noticeable. All but one negative response about the skills learned in the program was given by a family practice resident. The internal medicine group placed "great value" on the skills more frequently than those in family practice. Overall, the internal medicine ratings for the individual skills and the program, in general, were higher than the ones from family practice.

Two questions were posed to the residents on the evaluation questionnaire regarding the continued offering of the program. The questions and answers supplied by the residents are shown in Table 23. The large majority of residents expressed the view that the program should be offered regularly, but on a voluntary basis. The internal medicine group expressed more "yes" responses for the continuation of the program, however, and was the group to have three residents who supported "required" attendance.

Skill	No Value	Little Value	Undecided	Moderate Value	Great Value
Objectives and planning	0%	8%	15%	46%	31%
Leading a discussion	0%	8%	1 5%	69%	87
Questioning	0%	15%	15%	39%	31%
Use of audiovisuals	0%	0%	0%	317,	69%
Demonstration	0%	87.	1 5%	237.	547.
Lecture	0%	87	8%	46%	39%
Activities and practice sessions	0%	<b>8%</b>	31%	46%	15%
Total program	0%	87.	8%	62%	237
				•	

.

.

# Table 21

.

# Residents' Perceived Value of Skills Learned in Program (N = 13)

77

.

.

-

5611	<u>No V</u>	alue F.P.b	Little	Value F.P.	Undec	ided F.P.	Moderate	Value F.P.	<u>Great Va</u>	lue
						· · · ·				
Objectives and planning	07.	0%	0%	20%	12.5%	20%	37.5%	60%	50%	0%
Leading a discussion	0%	0%	0%	20%	25%	0%	62.5%	80%	12.5%	07.
Questioning	0%	0%	12,5%	20%	25%	0%	2 5%	60%	37.5%	20%
Use of audiovisuals	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	12.5%	60%	87.5%	407
Demonstration	0%	0%	0%	20%	12.5%	20%	12.5%	40%	75%	20%
Lecture	0%	0%	0%	20%	0%	20%	37.5%	60%	62.57	0%
Activities and practice sessions	0%	0%	0%	20%	37.5%	20%	37.5%	60%	25%	07.
Total program	0%	0%	0%	20%	12,5%	0%	50%	807.	37.5%	07.

Ta	ь1	e	22
----	----	---	----

Residents' Perceived Value of Skills Learned in Program According to Department

a I.M. = Internal Medicine Department; N = 8

.

b F.P. = Family Practice Department; N = ...5

Residents' Responses to Two Questions on the Program Evaluation Questionnaire About the Continued Offering of the Teaching Skills Program (N = 14)

> "Do you think this program should be offered on a regular basis to new residents?"

	<u>Yes</u>	Undecided	<u>No</u>
Total group	10	` <b>3</b>	1
Internal Medicine	7	1	0
Family Practice	3	2	1

2. "Should this program be offered on a voluntary basis or required of all residents?"

	<u>Voluntary</u>	Required
Total Group	11	3
Internal Medicine	5	3
Family Practice	6	0

Hypothesis four involved residents' attitudes toward participating in a teaching skills program. Findings revealed that there was a significant change in attitude, in a positive direction, from the beginning to the conclusion of the program, and the null hypothesis was rejected. Examining the attitude changes by department became important, however, in relation to other differences that became apparent.

The pre- and post-program attitude means toward being involved in the program are presented by department and for the total group in Table 24. Examination of the data in Table 24 discloses a slightly more positive pre-program attitude for family practice (2.83) than internal medicine (2.50), but a much more positive post-program attitude (4.63) for internal medicine than family practice (3.33).

#### Table 24

		Attitud	le Means <sup>a</sup>
Group	Number	Pre-Program	Post-Program
Total	14	2.64	4.07
Internal Medicine	8	2.50	4.63
Family Practice	6	2.83	3.33

Attitude Means for Total Group and Two Subgroups of Residents Toward Participating in a Teaching Skills Program

A Maximum = 5 (very positive); minimum = 1 (very negative)

The final factor to be considered was changes in residents' attitude toward having their teaching videotaped. Many were negative about such a procedure in the beginning of the program. The question was, "Would the experience of being videotaped and self-evaluating one's teaching generate more positive attitudes toward the use of this media. in the program?" Inspection of Table 25 provides the answer. For many residents, attitude toward being videotaped became more positive after having the experience. For a small number, the procedure was unpleasant and negative feelings continued.

A chi-square analysis of the changes in frequency distribution, from the residents' initial attitudes toward being videotaped to their attitudes at the conclusion of the program, was performed. Table 26 illustrates the results of this analysis. The pre-program attitudes served as the expected frequencies and the post-program attitudes as the observed ones. A chi-square value of 28.67 was obtained which was significant beyond the .001 level. The number of residents becoming more positive toward being videotaped was highly significant.

Table	25
-------	----

Residents' Pre- and Post-Program Attitude Toward Having Their Teaching Videotaped (N = 14)

Attitude	Very Negative	Negative	Indifferent	Positive	Very Positive
Pre=Program	14%	29%	43%	77.	7%
Post Program	14%	7%	14%	22%	43%
Beca Main Beca	me more nega tained the a me more pos	ative: 14% same attitud itive: 65%	de: 21%		

# Table 26

Chi-Square Analysis of Residents' Pre- to Post-Program Attitude Changes Toward Having Their Teaching Videotaped (N = 14)

	Negative	Indifferent	Positive	
Pre-Program(e)	6	6	2	
Post-Program(o)	3	2	9	
$x^2 = 28.67^*$	***		<u>,,,,</u> ,	

(e)expected frequency

(o)<sub>observed</sub> frequency

As a result of the findings, hypotheses three, five, and six were not rejected while hypotheses one, two, and four were. The program was judged as successful by the majority of residents.

.

### CHAPTER 5

#### SUMMARY

#### Introduction

This chapter presents the findings based on the analysis of the data, conclusions drawn from those findings, and recommendations for future study.

## Findings

The data were computer analyzed and six null hypotheses were tested for significance beyond the .05 level. As a result of the intensive analysis of the data collected, the following findings were made:

1. It was found that there was a significant mean gain score from the pre- to the posttest of the residents' independently-rated, videotaped teaching performances.

2. The mean gain score for delivery skills was found to be significantly lower than those for the organization, explaining, and use of audiovisuals categories.

3. A positive, but not significant, correlation was found to exist between the residents' post-program attitude and their total gain score.

4. At the conclusion of the program, a significant number of residents were found to have experienced a positive change in attitude.

from that originally held, toward participating in a teaching skills program.

۰...

5. No significant correlation was found between residents' selfevaluation scores and the independent raters' scores assigned to the same posttests.

6. When residents were asked to rank the four types of evaluative feedback received on teaching during the program, instructor critique and self-evaluation via videotape were ranked higher than viewing models and peer evaluation. Instructor critique seemed to be the most preferred.

Additional analyses of questionnaire and related data revealed other important findings. The residents' pre-program attitude was found to have a highly significant relationship to attendance, and residents' age seemed to be positively related to their pre-program attitude toward a teaching skills program.

On the needs assessment questionnaire, residents were found to have greatest interest in learning more about teaching on rounds, lecturing, leading a discussion, questioning, and demonstration techniques. Most residents had some previous teaching experience, but no training for teaching, and seemed to feel that the residency period was an appropriate time to improve instructional skills. Plans for use of teaching skills were found to be related mainly to patient education, giving presentations to groups, and serving as a practitioner/part-time instructor.

On the program evaluation questionnaire, administered at the conclusion of the program, most resident physicians appeared to be satisfied with their training experience. Factors generating greatest satisfaction were found to be the skills emphasized in the program (100%), the teaching methods used (86%), the instructional packages and related materials (86%), and the audiovisuals used (79%). Factors eliciting dissatisfaction were found to be: (a) the duration of the program (viewed as too long by many family practice and two internal medicine residents); (b) the amount of time devoted to practice (more seemed to be preferred by internal medicine residents and less by family practice); (c) the size of the group (seen as too small by several internal medicine residents); (d) the time required to complete the assignments (too great for some residents in family practice); and (e) the use of videotaping (seemed to be less highly regarded by the family practice group).

Internal medicine residents appeared to place greater value on the skills learned and on the program, as a whole, than did the family practice group. Eighty-five percent of all the residents, however, did appraise the program as being valuable. As indicated on the questionnaire, gaining skill in use of audiovisuals (100%) and lecturing (85%) seemed to be most appreciated by all residents.

Concerning attitude toward participating in a teaching skills program, internal medicine residents demonstrated a greater positive gain in attitude, from the beginning to the conclusion of the program, than did the family practice residents. In addition, the internal medicine group were found to exhibit more satisfaction with the components of the program, place a higher value on the skills learned during the 13 weeks, and have a larger gain score than did family practice. Most residents expressed the opinion that the program should be offered regularly but on a voluntary basis. Attitude toward having one's teaching videotaped was found to have changed significantly in a positive direction from the beginning to the end of the program. A small number of residents were found who remained negative about being videotaped, but most seemed to view the experience as a helpful one.

#### Conclusions

Based upon the findings of this study, the following conclusions were drawn:

1. Short training programs could be conducted during the residency period which produce significant, observable changes in physicians' teaching behavior. Care was taken to plan a program that satisfied needs, was judged as relevant, encouraged active participation in a nonthreatening atmosphere, kept the use of educational terminology to a minimum, and was conducted by an instructor who could serve as a model of the desired teaching behaviors.

2. An equal gain in mastery of skills might not be demonstrated. Skills, such as those used in delivery techniques, seemed to require a more prolonged and concentrated effort to modify behavior. Habits may have to be changed or eliminated and self-confidence developed. Organizational and explaining skills and the use of audiovisuals seemed easier to improve. Optimal use of questioning techniques, not evaluated by the independent raters because of small group sizes during posttesting, also appeared to require greater time and effort for mastery, as noted by the program coordinator during the training sessions.

3. Attitude and achievement were positively correlated, but the post-program attitude seems to have a greater relationship to achievement

than the pre-program one. Since a significant number of residents changed their attitude in a positive direction during the program, the modified attitudes may be more likely to influence participation and expended effort. The small sample size may have been a limiting factor to obtaining more conclusive results.

4. Attitudes toward participating in a teaching skills program may be changed in a positive direction. A well-conducted, relevant program which presents educational methodology in a meaningful and practical manner was found to be accepted by the majority of residents. Some of the participants may have very negative attitudes, however, which are not alterable.

When assessing pre- and post-program attitudes, a retrospective rating of residents' initial attitude seems to be more valid than a pre-program evaluation. Records maintained by the program coordinator confirmed this position. Additional support was offered in another study (Howard, Schmeck, and Bray, 1979) which found the comparison of ratings on self-report instruments to be invalid if the standard of measurement changes between the pre- and posttest. Findings favored the retrospective posttest design in providing a measure of self-reported change.

5. Residents might not evaluate their own teaching in the same manner as the independent raters. The residents' scores were generally lower than those assigned to the same teaching performances by the independent raters, a familiar occurrence whenever self-evaluations are utilized. The lack of significant positive correlation between residents' and raters' evaluation scores may be attributed to the residents' lack of familiarity with and instruction in the use of the ISEI, compared to the raters who received six hours of concentrated training. Residents' evaluation skills did seem to improve during the program, as evidenced by their more critical and perceptive peer and self-evaluations.

6. Preferences in type of feedback on teaching is likely to vary with individuals, but instructor critique and self-evaluation via videotape seem to be favored. Initial attitudes toward being videotaped were frequently found to be negative. After the experience, however, a significant number of attitudes were found to be much more positive and the experience viewed as beneficial. The smallness of several of the groups might partially account for the low ranking of peer evaluation. A larger sample might have produced more conclusive results.

7. Residents' achievement and attendance seem to be influenced by attitude toward participating in a teaching skills program. The residents' initial attitude was shown to have significantly influenced program attendance. Many of the beginning negative attitudes were changed to positive ones, however, if the residents elected to attend the beginning sessions and become involved in the program. Why some residents, who have a negative attitude, are not willing to participate in a teaching skills program and others are, can not be explained from the results of the data. Individual personality factors and unknown influential variables are likely to be involved. Most of the expressed, hostile attitudes were related to feelings that (a) teaching was not a priority item and the time should be expended learning "medicine", (b) first year residents had heavy patient responsibilities and had no time for such a program, and (C) prior experience with similar programs had proved to be a waste of time. The changed or post-program attitude

seemed to have a greater influence on the participants' achievement than the initial one. Changed attitudes were generally found to be reflected in an increased effort and improved attendance.

Why a low correlation between attendance and achievement was obtained when both of these variables were found to be related to attitude may be explained by several factors. The sample size was small, and attitudes changed at different intervals during the program. Other factors might include conflicts in priorities for time, prior teaching experience, innate abilities, the number of practice sessions attended, and participation in self-evaluation via videotape.

8. The age of a resident may be a contributing factor to initial attitude toward a teaching skills program. Generally, the "older" residents were found to have a more positive attitude, better attendance, and some of the greatest gain scores.

9. Most residents, having very little training in educational methodology, may require assistance, particularly with planning for instruction, organizing content, effectively using audiovisuals, using questioning techniques, improving delivery skills, and realizing that teaching isn't simply "telling". There is a low priority placed upon the improvement of such skills, however, and the residents may not be convinced of the benefits of such a program.

10. The same program may not be evaluated in the same manner by residents in different departments. Components that one group finds satisfactory may be perceived as unsatisfactory by another group. Many extenuating circumstances such as the structure of the residency program, patient responsibilities, environmental conditions, size of the group, conflicts of time and interests, interruptions, scheduled meeting times, and attitude of senior residents might be confounding variables.

11. There appears to be no single optimal duration for a teaching skills program. The variables mentioned with conclusion number ten preclude such a judgment. Thirteen weeks seemed excessively long to one group of residents but not to the majority in the other group.

12. One-hour long sessions seem to be satisfactory. This may be the result of habit more than preference, since most conferences are scheduled for one hour.

13. Most residents may be expected to spend little time on outside assignments even though there is an expression of intent. A demanding schedule and priorities for time were found to be limiting factors for even the most interested.

14. The residency period appears to be a good time to offer a teaching skills program. Assistance with the preparation of grand rounds presentations and the development of skills necessary in clinical teaching and in instructing patients were found to be needed by most residents.

This study indicated that the need for improved instruction in medical education could be partially met by the development of teaching skills programs for resident physicians. Such programs may be successful, but many obstacles to planning, implementing, and conducting them exist.

The success of any program is, to a great extent, dependent upon the intrinsic motivation and attitudes of the participants. Individuals must want to improve their teaching skills and be willing to devote the necessary time. Such is not the prevailing attitude of most physicians.

The viewpoint persists that knowledge of content is sufficient preparation for teaching. Courses in teaching methods are generally viewed with hostility and are judged as irrelevant. Changing the residents' attitudes and motivating them might become two of the primary goals of a program coordinator. Educating the residents about the importance of their instructional role and utilizing the videotape medium for selfevaluation are two early strategies which may be employed for this purpose. Providing ample opportunity for active participation and practice in a nonthreatening, democratic atmosphere seemed to help create positive attitudes and facilitate learning.

The experience of working with resident physicians may be both frustrating and rewarding. The potential for becoming effective instructors was found to be present in many of the physicians, but unlocking that potential became a challenge. Conflicts for time and physical "tiredness" of the residents were frequent obstacles.

The program instructor need not be a physician to be effective. Educational specialists have skills which can help physicians improve their instruction. Having a biological science background did prove helpful to the program coordinator, however, in understanding the language of medicine. Having a physician educator present in some of the practice sessions may have benefited those residents who expressed particular problems with the application of educational principles to the medical setting. Most residents, however, seemed to be able to apply the new knowledge from the instruction and examples provided.

The opportunity to learn instructional skills seems to be appreciated by many resident physicians. To illustrate this point, the following list of comments made by residents, orally and on the evaluation questionnaire, is presented:

"Using those transparencies is really easier and more effective than a blackboard."

"I feel so much more confident in preparing a grand rounds presentation since the program."

"Now when I hear a good or bad speaker, I know why it was good or bad."

"I wish we could critique the people we have to listen to in conferences."

"I had never used an audiovisual before. I didn't even know how to put slides in the tray."

"I really needed help with planning a talk."

"We really have a lot to learn!"

"This course was extremely well done and beneficial."

"Having the opportunity to speak in front of a group and then be critiqued has been so helpful."

"Thanks a lot! I needed this."

As physicians acquire an appreciation for their important instructional role, either as teachers in classrooms and clinical settings, as preceptors, or as instructors of their patients, attitudes toward developing effective teaching skills may become more positive. Educational and medical specialists, working together, could plan and conduct relevant, practical programs which may assist physicians in acquiring these skills. The residency program seems to be a good time for such an endeavor.

### Recommendations

On the basis of the findings of this study the following recommendations were made:

1. A teaching skills program should become an integral part of the residency period, and cooperation from participating departments in the planning, scheduling, and implementing of the program should be obtained.

2. Participation in the teaching skills program should be voluntary but strongly encouraged. Considering the prevailing attitude toward, and low priority placed upon teaching by the medical profession, a strictly voluntary offering of such a program would probably generate very few participants. Had many of the residents followed their initial feelings and had not been encouraged to participate in the program, few would likely have done so. Since a highly significant number of residents became positive about the program, after being involved, strong encouragement for residents to participate might definitely be worthwhile. Requiring continued attendance when attitudes remain negative could create hostility which might be detrimental to the group.

3. Inasmuch as possible, the scheduling of the program should be at a time of year when interruptions by vacations, rotations, and meetings would be at a minimum.

4. An attempt should be made to coordinate the program at a time when many residents have grand rounds presentations to prepare. The immediacy of the need might result in greater motivation and provide a practical application for some of the skills. In addition, a session in which residents teach actual medical students or fellow residents, under supervision, should be tried.

5. Scheduling a program session immediately following another conference, which happened with the family practice group, should be avoided. Such a situation was not found to be conducive to learning.

6. The same instructor(s) should meet regularly with the residents in order to develop a trusting, working relationship, wherein residents feel free to request assistance and their strengths and weaknesses are known to the instructor.

7. A physician educator should be utilized, in conjunction with an education specialist, in sessions where application of educational principles to the medical setting is practiced. This would assist those individuals requiring more specific assistance.

8. Residents should be given continued support and feedback as they begin to implement their teaching skills in the clinical setting. Studies show that individuals will tend to discontinue new behavior if the behavior is not performed or valued by the group in which the individual finds himself.

9. Experimentation with different session lengths and program durations should be undertaken since many residents indicated a preference for a shorter program. In view of the fact that the residents did not suggest eliminating any of the skills, and some even requested additional practice time, a minimum of 12 contact hours was recommended.

10. A group size of four to five residents was recommended for program sessions. Frequent absences in some small groups of three was found to reduce the effectiveness of group interaction and peer feedback. The larger group of seven sometimes prevented all participants from

having the opportunity to teach and be critiqued. A corollary problem associated with the larger group was the arrangement of schedules for videotaping and instructor critique without consuming excessive program time.

11. Microteaching is an effective tool for practicing teaching skills in a small group setting and should be utilized in teaching skills training programs. Most residents reacted favorably to the method and appreciated prompt feedback. The significant improvement from pretest to posttest and the change in attitudes were attributed, in part, to the use of this method in conjunction with videotaping.

12. Self-evaluation via videotape feedback should be utilized in teaching skills programs considering the documented strength of this medium to act as a strong motivator for change, and the significant number of residents who did exhibit a positive change in attitude toward the use of the procedure. Effective instructor feedback, in combination with this method, seemed to be preferred, however, to a strictly independent self-evaluation. Because the use of videotaping is a relatively expensive undertaking in both manpower and resources, the medium should be used together with other methods.

13. A teaching skills program of short duration should be developed to meet the needs of full and part-time clinical faculty and other health professionals, such as nurses and social workers, who instruct residents.

14. Microteaching and videotaping procedures used in this program should be incorporated into traditional teacher education programs which usually contain the three basic components of course work, observations in the schools, and student teaching. Using the microteaching method of examining and practicing individual instructional skills in a low-
risk environment can assist the beginning teacher in gaining experience. In turn, the transition to the actual classroom is facilitated and theory is related to practice earlier in the program.

15. A follow-up study on the degree to which residents implement their newly acquired teaching skills should be conducted.

16. The question as to why physicians have such negative attitudes toward teaching should be explored.

17. Further research into what constitutes effective clinical teaching should be conducted in order for educational specialists to better assist physicians in the application of educational principles.

18. This study should be replicated, using a larger sample, to determine the validity of the findings and to obtain more conclusive results on certain factors, such as the relationship between residents age and attitude toward a teaching skills program.

# SELECTED BIBLIOGRAPHY

•

.

.

.

.

ı.

#### SELECTED BIBLIOGRAPHY

- Abercrombie, M. L. J. Improving teaching and learning in small groups. <u>Medical Education</u>, 1978, <u>12</u>, 68-71.
- Allen, D., & Ryan, K. <u>Microteaching</u>. Reading, Mass: Addison-Wesley Publishing Co., 1969.
- Anderson, S. B., Ball, S., & Murphey, R. T. <u>Encyclopedia of Educa-</u> <u>tional Evaluation</u>. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass Publishers, 1975.
- Anderson, J., Gale, J., & Tomlinson, R. W. S. Training of medical teachers. <u>The Lancelet</u>, 1974, <u>2</u>, 566-576.
- Arsham, G. M. An instructional skills workshop for medical teachers: Design and execution. <u>British Journal of Medical Education</u>, 1971, <u>5</u>, 320-324.
- Aspy, D. N. Teaching skills. Journal of Medical Education, 1978, 53, 871.
- Association of American Medical Colleges. <u>Preliminary report of the</u> <u>faculty development survey</u> (Contract No. 231-76-001). Washington, D. C.: U. S. Department of Health, Education, and Welfare, 1977.
- Bazuin, C. H., & Yonke, A. M. Improvement of teaching skills in a clinical setting. <u>Journal of Medical Education</u>, 1978, <u>53</u>, 377-382.
- Beard, R. M. On evaluating the success of teaching. <u>British Journal</u> of <u>Medical Education</u>, 1967, <u>1</u>, 296-302.
- Bloom, B. 'S. Thought processes in lectures and discussions. <u>Journal</u> of <u>General Education</u>, 1953, <u>7</u>, 160.
- Boozer, C. H., Gaines, W. G., Copping, A. A., & Resmussen, R. H. Formal training in education for dental educators: A pilot program. <u>Journal of Dental Education</u>, 1977, <u>41</u>, 248-252.
- Brandt, E. N., Jr. Preferences of family physicians for subject matter in continuing education programs. <u>Journal of Medical Education</u>, 1975, <u>50</u>, 395-398.
- Britt, F., Kim, K., & Mynatt, S. Maximizing videotaped learning of interpersonal skills. <u>Journal of Nursing Education</u>, 1979, <u>18</u>, 31-36.
- Brown, G. <u>Microteaching: A programme of teaching skills</u>, London: Methuen and Co., 1975.
- Brown, R. S. House staff attitude toward teaching. <u>Journal of Medical</u> <u>Education</u>, 1970, <u>45</u>, 156-159.

- Brown, R. S. Pedagogy for surgical house staff. <u>Journal of Medical</u> <u>Education</u>, 1971, <u>46</u>, 93-95.
- Byrne, N., & Cohen, R. Observational study of clinical clerkship activities. <u>Journal of Medical Education</u>, 1973, <u>48</u>, 919-927.

- Byrne, P. S., Harris, C.M., & Long, B. L. Teaching the teachers. Medical Education, 1976, 10, 189-192.
- Carroll, J. G. Assessing the effectiveness of a training program for the university teaching assistants. <u>Teaching of Psychology</u>, 1977, <u>4</u>, 135-138.
- Carroll, J. G. Effects of training programs for university teaching assistants: A review of the literature. Paper presented at the annual meeting of the American Educational Research Association, Toronto, Canada, March 1978.
- Carroll, J. G., Project Director, Educational Research and Development, University of Pennsylvania, personal communication, February 1979.
- Cassie, J. M., Collins, G. F., & Daggett, C. J. The use of videotapes to improve clinical teaching. <u>Journal of Medical Education</u>, 1977, <u>52</u>, 353-354.
- Cooper, J. M., & Allen, D. W. Microteaching: History and present status. In <u>Microteaching: selected papers</u> (Research Bulletin No. 7), Association of Teacher Educators, 1971.
- Coppola, E. D., & Gonnella, J. S. A nondirective approach to clinical instruction in medical school. <u>Journal of the American Medical</u> <u>Association</u>, 1968, <u>205</u>, 487-491.
- Coppola, E. D., & Gonnella, J. S. Learning in medical school: An approach to student responsibility. <u>Surgery</u>, 1972, <u>71</u>, 645-649.
- Daggett, C. J., Cassie, J. M., & Collins, G. F. Research on clinical teaching. <u>Review of Educational Research</u>, 1979, <u>49</u>, 151-169.
- Davis, L. N., & McCallon, E. Planning, conducting, and evaluating workshops. Austin, Texas: Learning Concepts, 1974.
- Doyle, B. B., & Balaley, E. Supervision of the resident as a teacher. Journal of Medical Education, 1979, 54, 338-339.
- Dressel, P. L. <u>Evaluation in higher education</u>. Boston: Houghton Mifflin, 1961.
- Ebel, K. E. <u>The craft of teaching</u>. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass Publishers, 1976.
- Elrick, H. The clinical education of the medical student. <u>Journal</u> of <u>Medical Education</u>, 1968, <u>43</u>, 453-459.

- Elton, L., & Simmonds, K. <u>Staff development in higher education</u>. Society for Research into Higher Education, 1977.
- Engel, G. L. The deficiencies of the case presentation as a method of clinical teaching. <u>New England Journal of Medicine</u>, 1971, <u>284</u>, 20-24.
- Evans, J. R., & Massler, M. The effective clinical teacher. <u>Journal</u> of <u>Dental Education</u>, 1977, <u>41</u>, 613-617.
- Fenley, D., Faculty Development Specialist, Southern Illinois University School of Medicine, personal communication, January 1979.
- Fishbein, M. <u>Readings in attitude theory and measurement</u>. New York: John Wiley and Sons, 1967.
- Foley, R., Smilansky, J., & Bughman, E. <u>A self-instructional</u> <u>departmental approach for improving lecture skills in medical faculty</u>. Unpublished manuscript, 1978 (Available from University of Illinois Center for Educational Development).
- Ford, C. W., & Morgan, M. K. <u>Teaching in the health professions</u>. St. Louis: C. V. Mosby Co., 1976.
- Fulop, T. Educating the educators. Medical Education, 1978, 12, 44-48.
- Gaff, J G. <u>Toward faculty renewal</u>. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass Publishers, 1975.
- Gale, J., Anderson, J., Freeling, P., & Pettingale, K. W. Planning educational courses - A model of the management of an educational workshop for teachers of medicine. <u>British Journal of Medical</u> <u>Education</u>, 1974, <u>8</u>, 87-91.
- Good, C. V. <u>Dictionary of education</u>. New York: McGraw-Hill Book Co., 1959.
- Gregory, I. D., & Hammar, B. Case study of first course in teaching skills and methods for university medical staff. <u>British Journal</u> of <u>Medical Education</u>, 1974, <u>8</u>, 92-98.
- Gregory, T. B. Encounters with teaching: A microteaching manual. New Jersey: Prentice-Hall, 1972.
- Guilford, J. P. <u>Psychometric methods</u>. New York: McGraw-Hill Book Co., 1954.
- Habeshaw, T. New teaching methods in training clinical teachers. <u>Nursing Times</u>, 1975, <u>71</u>, 300-302.
- Hall, J. N., & Brooks, K. M. Teaching psychologists to teach psychology: The improvement of teaching skills in health service professions. <u>Medical Education</u>, 1976, <u>10</u>, 183-188.

- Hammons, J. O., & Wallace, T. H. S. Sixteen ways to kill a college faculty development program. <u>Educational Technology</u>, 1976, <u>16</u>, 16-20.
- Harris, C. M. A teaching methods course in Liverpool for general practitioners. <u>British Journal of Medical Education</u>, 1970, <u>4</u>, 149-157.
- Hildegrand, M., & Wilson, R. C. <u>Effective university teaching and</u> <u>its evaluation</u>. Berkeley, California: Center for Research and Development in Higher Education, 1970.
- Hinz, C. F., Jr. Direct observation as a means of teaching and evaluating clinical skills. <u>Journal of Medical Education</u>, 1966, <u>41</u>, 150-161.
- Hobun, J. D., Carroll, J. G., & Agna, M. A. A training program for community physicians serving as preceptors in family medicine. Manuscript submitted for publication, <u>Journal of Family Practice</u>, 1979.
- Holcomb, J. D., & Garner, A. E. <u>Improving teaching in medical schools</u>. Illinois: Charles C. Thomas Publishers, 1973.
- Howard, G. S., Schmeck, R. R., & Bray, J. H. Internal invalidity in studies employing self-report instruments: A suggested remedy. <u>Journal of Educational Measurement.</u>, 1979, <u>16</u>, 129-135.
- Irby, D. M. Clinical teacher effectiveness in medicine. <u>Journal of</u> <u>Medical Education</u>, 1978, <u>53</u>, 808-815.
- Irby, D., DeMers, J., Scher, M., and Matthews, D. A model for the improvement of medical faculty lecturing. <u>Journal of Medical</u> <u>Education</u>, 1976, <u>51</u>, 403-409.
- Jackson, B. S., & Mantle, D. D. Teaching patient assessment: The pros and cons of clinical rounds. <u>Journal of Nursing Education</u>, 1977, <u>16</u>, 24-29.
- Jason, H. A study of medical teaching practices. <u>Journal of Medical</u> <u>Education</u>, 1962, <u>37</u>, 1258-1284.
- Jason, H. The relevance of medical education to medical practice. Journal of the American Medical Association, 1970, 212, 2092-2095.
- Jason, H. The health-care practitioner as instructor. In <u>Fostering</u> <u>the growing needs to learn</u>. New York: Syracuse University, July 1973.
- Kahn, G. S., Cohen, B., & Jason, H. The teaching of interpersonal skills in United States medical schools. <u>Journal of Medical</u> <u>Education</u>, 1979, <u>54</u>, 29-35.

- Koen, F. M. A faculty educational development program and an evaluation of its evaluation. <u>Journal of Medical Education</u>, 1976, <u>51</u>, 854-855.
- Kleffner, J. H., Instructional Development Specialist, University of Texas Health Science Center, personal communication, January 1979.
- Lazerson, A. M. Training for teaching: Psychiatry residents as teachers in an evening college. <u>Journal of Medical Education</u>, 1972, <u>47</u>, 576-578.
- Levy, M., Faculty Development Specialist, Medical College of Georgia, personal communication, January 1979.
- Maddison, D. C. What's wrong with medical education? <u>Medical Education</u>, 1978, <u>12</u>, 97-102.
- Martin, G. <u>Design of an instructional skills workshop for medical</u> <u>teachers</u>. Paper presented at Ninth Annual Conference on Research in Medical Education, Los Angeles, California, October 30-31, 1970.
- McKnight, P. D., & Baral, D. P. <u>Microteaching and the technical skills</u> of teaching: <u>A bibliography of research and development at Stanford</u> <u>University, 1963-1969</u>. Stanford, California: Stanford University School of Education, 1969.
- Meleca, C. B., & Schimpfbauser, F. T. A house staff training program to improve the clinical instruction of medical students. In <u>Clinical Teaching</u>. Continuing Medical Education Program, Iowa City: The University of Iowa, 1977.
- Miller, G. E. Adventure in pedagogy. <u>Journal of the American Medical</u> <u>Association</u>, 1956, <u>162</u>, 1448-1450.
- Miller, G. E. <u>The preparation of medical teachers</u>. Paper presented at the meeting of the Association of American Medical Colleges, Atlantic City, New Jersey, October 22, 1957.
- Miller, R. I. <u>Evaluating faculty performances</u>. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass Publishers, 1974.
- Miller, M. D., Director of Curriculum Services, Department of Family Practice, Medical College of Georgia, personal communication, January 1979.
- Miller, S. J. <u>The educational experience of interns</u> (ERIC No. ED 023353). Waltham, Massachusetts: Brandeis University, 1968.
- Mitchell, M. M., Instructional Development Specialist, Mayo/Clinic Foundation, personal communication, January 1979.
- Mumford, E. <u>Interns: From students to physicians</u>. Cambridge, Massachusetts: Harvard University Press, 1970.

- Nerup, J., Thomsen, O., & Vejlsgaare, R. Teaching the teacher to teach. <u>Danish Medical Bulletin</u>, 1972, <u>19</u>, 198-201.
- Olivero, J. L. <u>Microteaching: Medium for improving instruction</u>. Columbus, Ohio: Charles E. Merrill Publishing Co., 1970.
- Paull, J. D. Organizing an educational exercise. <u>Anesthesis and</u> <u>Intensive Care</u>, 1976, <u>IV</u>, 297-300.
- Payson, H. E. A time study of medical teaching rounds. <u>New England</u> <u>Journal of Medicine</u>, 1965, <u>273</u>, 1468-1471.
- Peck, R. F., & Tucker, J. A. <u>Second handbook of research on teaching</u>. Chicago; Rand McNally, 1973.
- Bederson, K. G. Improving teacher effectiveness. <u>Education Canada</u>, 1975, <u>15</u>, 12-20.
- Perlberg, A., Peri, J. M., Winreb, M., Nitzan, E., & Shrimron, J. Microteaching and videotape recordings: A new approach to improve teaching. <u>Journal of Medical Education</u>, 1972, <u>47</u>, 43-50.
- Popham, W. J., & Sirotnik, K. A. <u>Educational statistics: Use and</u> <u>interpretation</u>. New York: Harper and Row, Publishers, 1973.
- Prentice, E. D., Metchalf, W. K., Sharp, J. G., & Hard, W. L. Training teachers in the anatomical sciences. <u>Journal of Medical Education</u>, 1976, <u>51</u>, 1006-1009.
- Reerink, E. A training course for clinical teachers in the Netherlands. British Journal of Medical Education, 1972, 6, 32-36.

Robbins, A. J. Performance criteria for evaluation of medical teachers. <u>Medical Education</u>, 1977, <u>11</u>, 58-64.

- Robbins, A. S., Heinrich, R., Abrass, I., Kauss, D. R., & Tamkin, J. A. Teaching interpersonal skills in a medical residency training program. <u>Journal of Medical Education</u>, 1978, <u>53</u>, 988-990.
- Rous, N., Banford, J. C., Jr., Gromisch, D., Rubin, S., & Sall, S. The improvement of faculty teaching through evaluation: A preliminary report. Journal of Surgical Research, 1971, 11, 311-315.
- Salkin, L. M., Hildebrand, C. N., & Landay, M. A. Behavioral objectives-A review of the problems. <u>Journal of Dental Education</u>, 1974, <u>38</u>, 399-402.
- Simpson, M. A. <u>Medical education, a critical approach</u>. London: Butterworths, 1972.

- Solomon, D., Rosenberg, L., & Bezdik, W. E. Teacher behavior and student learning. <u>Journal of Educational Psychology</u>, 1964, <u>55</u>, 23-30.
- Stritter, F. T. The teacher as manager: A strategy for medical education. <u>Journal of Medical Education</u>, 1972, <u>47</u>, 93-101.
- Stritter, F. T., Hain, J. D., & Grimes, D. A. Clinical teaching reexamined. <u>Journal of Medical Education</u>, 1975, <u>50</u>, 876-882.
- Stritter, F. T., & Hain, J. D. Workshop on clinical teaching. <u>Journal</u> of <u>Medical Education</u>, 1977, <u>52</u>, 155-157.
- Tapper, M. Teaching methods and techniques for staff development. <u>The</u> <u>Journal of Continuing Education in Nursing</u>, 1977, 8, 72-74.
- Tiberius, R. G. Interpreting educational concepts for the teaching family physician: Some parallels between patient care and undergraduate clinical education. <u>The Journal of Family Practice</u>, 1977, <u>5</u>, 395-399.
- Tuckman, B. W. <u>Conducting educational research</u>. New York: Harcourt, Brace, Jovanovich, 1972.
- Tuckman, B. W. <u>Evaluating educational programs</u>. New York: Harcourt, Brace, Jovanovich, 1979.
- Wiener, S. L. Teaching in ward rounds. <u>Annals of Internal Medicine</u>, 1973, <u>79</u>, 606-607.
- Williams, W. L., Professor and Director, Educational Planning and Development Program, Medical College of Virginia, personal communication, February 1979.
- Wilson, R. C., Gaff, J. G., Dienst, E. R., Wood, L., & Bavry, J. L. <u>College professors and their impact on students</u>. New York: John Wiley and Sons, 1975.
- Wolkow, M., Program Coordinator Faculty Development Program, University of Southern California School of Medicine, personal communication, January 1979.
- Wright, H. J., & Know, J. D. E. Teaching teachers in general practice. <u>Medical Education</u>, <u>11</u>, 48-52.
- Zimmerman, J. M., & King, T. C. Motivation and learning in medical school: Evaluation of the student centered group. <u>Surgery</u>, 1963, <u>54</u>, 152-156.

APPENDIXES

APPENDIX A

•

#### PRE-PROGRAM TEACHING ASSIGNMENT

You will have one week to prepare a 15 minute presentation on a topic of your choice which has been approved by your departmental chairperson or director. Adhere to the following guidelines when preparing for your presentation.

1. Prepare a written statement of aims and/or objectives For the topic you plan to present.

2. Divide the 15 minute time allotment between a brief lecture of five to seven minutes and a discussion period of eight to ten minutes. Prepare a written list of questions that would be appropriate to ask the group about your topic, and utilize some of these questions as you lead the discussion.

3. You may use audiovisuals during your presentation if you wish.

4. Your statement of aims/objectives and your list of questions will be collected following your presentation and kept for future reference.

Your presentation will be videotaped for the purpose of assessing needs and providing you with feedback on your own teaching at the beginning of the program. APPENDIX B

.

.

•

Name \_\_\_\_\_

INSTRUCTIONAL SKILLS NEEDS ASSESSMENT

Rate your responses to the following statements on a 1 - 5 scale by circling the appropriate number. Use the following criteria:

1=	very negative	4 <b>=</b> positive
2≖	negative	5= very positive
3≖	indifferent	

A. Indicate your interest in knowing more about the following topics as they relate to clinical teaching, education of patients, presentations to physicians, etc.:

1.	Developing and stating aims and objectives.	1	2	3	4	5
2.	Planning and organizing for teaching.	1	2	3	4	5
3.	Developing an instructional package.	1	2	3	4	5
4.	Delivering an effective lecture.	1	2	3	4	5
5.	Questioning techniques.	1	2	; 3	4	5
6.	Leading a discussion.	1	2	3	4	5
7.	Use of audiovisuals.	1	2	3	4	5
8.	Teaching at bedaide or on rounds.	1	2	3	4	5
9.	Demonstration techniques.	1	2	3	4	5
10.	Evaluating student performance.	1	2	<sup>•</sup> 3	4	5
11.	Evaluating your own teaching effectiveness.	1	2	3	4	5
12.	Other	1	2	3	4	5
	······································	1	2	3	4	5
	······································	1	2	3	4	5

B. Place an asterisk \* to the left of three topics listed above which hold the highest priority for you. Include any others you may have added to the list when prioritizing.

. .

c.	. Using the rating scale explained at the beginning of the question- naire, answer the following questions.									
	1. Are you interested in participating in a pro- gram designed to improve teaching skills?	1	2	3	4	5				
	2. How do you feel about having your teaching being videotaped in such a program?	1	2	3	4	5				
	3. Do you feel comfortable with the idea of teaching?	1	2	3	4	5				
	4. Are you willing to spend a reasonable amount of time to improve your teaching skills (one hour in a group session and 1-2 hours of independent study per week for approximately 13 weeks)?	1	2	3	4	5				
	5. Do you feel the residency period is a good time to offer a program on improving teaching skills?	1	2	3	4	5				
	Comments:									
D.	Have you had any prior teaching experience? Yes If yes, explain the nature of the experience.		<b>;</b>	N	o					
E.	Have you had any prior training in educational method workshops, etc.)?	1010	ogy	(c)	our	ges,				
	If yes, explain the nature of the training.									
F.	How does "teaching" fit into your future professional response(s) which apply.	լթ:	lanı	9?	Che	eck				
	Education of patients Teaching other he	s st alt	tude th c	ent: Sare	s in e pr	1 CO-				
	Fractitioner/part-time educator fessions	1								
	Clinical teacher - full time Presenta fessions organiza	atio al a utic	one and one	to Cor	pro Imui	o- nity				

•

\_\_\_\_\_ Other. \_\_\_\_\_

Comments:

. .

- .

٠

.

.

- .

APPENDIX C

## PROGRAM EVALUATION QUESTIONNAIRE

A. On a scale of 1 - 5, rate your degree of satisfaction with the following aspects of the program by circling the appropriate number. Use the following criteria:

1				5		
Very	Moderately Indifferent Moderate	ly	V	ery		
Dis	satisfied Dissatisfied Satisfied	1	S	ati	sfi	ed
1.	The duration of the program.	1	2	3	4	5
2.	The duration of each session.	1	2	3	4	5
3.	The time of year in which the program was offered.	1	2	3	4	5
4.	The teaching skills emphasized in the program.	1	2	3	4	5
5.	The methods used to teach the skills in the program.	1	2	3	4	5
6.	The amount of time devoted to "practicing" skills.	1	2	3	4	5
7.	The printed material handed out for instructional and reference purposes.	1	2	3	4	5
8.	The audiovisuals used throughout the program.	1	2	3	4	5
9.	The size of the group.	1	2	3	4	5
10.	The amount of time required to complete the out- side assignments given during the program.	1	2	3	4	5
11.	The use of videotaping to evaluate your teaching.	1	2	3	4	5
12.	Other (fill in the blank if you wish to evaluate a factor not listed).	1	2	3	4	5
13.	Rate how you now feel about having had the opportunity to participate in the program.	1	2	3	4	5
Ilad -	a the secles which follow simple the state is an					

B. Using the scales which follow, <u>circle</u> the attitude you initially had toward participating in this program and then circle the attitude you now have after participating in the program.

## Initial attitude:

Very negative, negative, indifferent, positive, very positive

### Present attitude:

Very negative, negative, indifferent, positive, very positive

C. On a scale of 1 ~ 5 assess each of the following topics included in the program according to its personal value to you. Use the following criteria and circle the appropriate number.

l No Value	Little Value	Undecided	Moderate Value	<u> </u>	G	5 Fre <i>t</i>	at 1e	
1. St fo	ating objectives and r teaching.	planning and	organizing	1	2	3	4	5
2. Le	ading a discussion.			1	- 2	3	4	5
3. Qu	estioning techniques			1	2	3	4	5
4. Us	e of audiovisuals.			1	2	3	4	5
5. De	monstration technique	es.		1	2	3	4	5
6. Pr	esenting a lecture.			1	2	3	4	5
7. Th	e activities and pra-	ctice sessions	• ;	1	2	3	4	5
8. Ot	her (fill in if you	so desire).						
	<u></u>			1	2	3	4	5
9. As	sess the overall valu	ue of the enti	re program.	1	2	3	4	5
Do you new re	think this program : sidents?	should be offer	red on a regu	lar	bas	is	to	
	Yeı	в No	Undeci	.ded			-	
Check	onet This program a	hould be (1) or	n e volunterv	haa	ła	,		`

- E. Check one: This program should be (1) on a voluntary basis (\_\_\_\_\_),
  (2) required of all residents (\_\_\_\_\_).
- F. Using the numbers 1 through 4, rank each of the following methods for improving teaching according to how valuable each was in helping you improve your teaching behavior during the program. Number 1 should indicate the <u>most</u> valuable method while number 4 should indicate the <u>least</u> valuable.
  - \_\_\_\_\_ Critique of your teaching by your peers.

D.

\_\_\_\_\_ Evaluating your own teaching via videotape.

- \_\_\_\_\_ Viewing examples of other individuals teaching (Your instructor and videotaped models).
- \_\_\_\_\_ Critique of your teaching by the program instructor.

113

G. Comment on what aspects of the program were of most benefit to you personally.

-

H. Suggestions for improving the program:

Name \_\_\_\_\_

APPENDIX D

•

#### INSTRUCTIONAL SKILLS EVALUATION INSTRUMENT

Using the following criteria as guidelines, rate each of the objectives by checking the column with the appropriate descriptive term. Optimal (Opt) = The objective was accomplished skillfully (not to be interpreted as meaning "perfect"). Adequate (Ade) = The objective was accomplished to a satisfactory degree most of the time. Minimal (Min) = The objective was accomplished unsatisfactorily most of the time or too seldom. Unfulfilled (Unf) = The objective was not attempted. Not Applicable (N.A.) = The objective does not apply to the presentation.

#### OBJECTIVE

LECTURE		<u>Opt</u>	<u>Ade</u>	<u>Min</u>	<u>Unf</u>	<u>N.A.</u>
1.	Speaks at appropriate volume					
2.	Speaks clearly (enunciation).					
3.	Speaks at a suitable pace.	<b></b> ,				
4.	Uses gestures purposefully.					
5.	Uses a variety of facial expressions.	<del></del>		<u></u>		
6.	Is free from annoying mannerisms.		<u> </u>	<b></b>		<u> </u>
7.	Exhibits enthusiasm in subject.	·		<b>-</b>	<u></u>	
8.	Appears confident.			<del></del>		
9.	Has eye contact with audience.					
10.	Speaks in a conversational manner (natural, not formal).			•		
11.	Avoids "reading" notes or text.	·				
12.	Objectives (purposes) of lecture are clear.					
13.	Gains audience's attention (interest- ing/relevant opening statements).		<b></b>		<b></b>	
14.	Introduces topic.					

116

LECTURE	(Continued)	<u>Opt</u>	<u>Ade</u>	<u>Min</u>	<u>Unf</u>	<u>N.A.</u>
15.	Displays apparent knowledge of subject.			<u> </u>		
16.	Has subject matter well organized.					
17.	Provides for audience participation (during lecture)		<u> </u>			<b></b> ,
18.	Explains clearly.	<b></b>		<b>-</b>		
19.	Makes subject matter meaningful (points out importance, application, etc. of information).					<b></b>
20.	Uses verbal/visual illustrations (examples, analogies, etc.) to explain ideas.		<u></u>	<u> </u>		
21.	Has selected reasonable objectives for the time allowed (15 minutes).	·			<u> </u>	<b></b> ,
22.	Summarizes major points.			<del></del>		·
23.	Effectively concludes presentation.	<del></del>	<u> </u>	·	<del></del>	
USE OF A	AUDIOVISUALS					
1.	Uses audiovisuals that support the objectives of the lesson.					
2.	Uses audiovisuals that are easily visible and/or audible.				<u></u>	
3.	Uses well designed audiovisuals.			<u> </u>		<u> </u>
QUESTION	NING/DISCUSSION					
1.	Answers carefully and precisely questions raised.					
2.	Encourages critical thinking and opinions from group.					
.3.	Clarifies questions and/or comments made by group members.	<u> </u>	<u> </u>			
4.	Questions individuals in a non- threatening manner.					
5.	Uses divergent or open-ended questions to stimulate discussion.			<b></b>		

117

APPENDIX E

# LESSON PLAN EVALUATION GUIDE

General	Objectives	<u>Yes</u>	Needs <u>Improvement</u>
1.	Is each general objective appropriate for the lesson?		
2.	Is each general objective stated in terms of student performance (rather than teacher performance)?	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
3.	Is each general objective stated in terms of students' terminal behavior (rather then the subject matter to be covered)?	l 	
Specific	Objectives		
4.	Are objectives clear and concise?		
5.	Do specific objectives contain a verb that specifies observable behavior (e.g. identi- fy, describe, list,)?		
6.	Is each specific objective related to the general objective?		
7.	Is there a sufficient number of specific objectives to adequately describe the be- havior of students who have achieved the general objectives?		
8.	Are the objectives representative of different levels of learning?		
9.	Are the topics, tasks, etc. presented in a logical order (simple to complex, known to unknown, etc.)?		
10.	Is the main content related to the ob- jectives of the lesson?		
11.	Is an introduction planned for the lesson?		
12.	Is proper closure planned for the lesson?		
Instruct	lonal Method(s)		
13.	Is the selected method one which will best meet the objectives which have been set?		

	<u>Yes</u>	Needs Improvement
<pre>14. Is/are the selected method(s) at a level     suitable to the learner (not too elemen-     tary or too advanced)? Instructional Aids (Materials)</pre>	·	·
15. Are the instructional aids appropriate for the objective(s) of the lesson?		
16. Are the instructional aids appropriate for the instructional method selected to teach the lesson?	••••••	

.

## DELIVERY EVALUATION GUIDE

		Yes	Needs Improvement
1.	Was the method of introducing the lesson inter- esting in itself?		
2.	Was the relationship between the introduction and main part of the lesson clear?		•••••
3.	Did the instructor move about purposefully rather than remaining stationary or pacing?		
4.	Were gestures (hands, body, head, face) used to convey extra meaning?		, 
5.	Was there variation in rate, volume and express- iveness of speaking?		
6.	Were important points stressed in using ges- tures (pointing, etc.) or through words ("Note this", "Listen carefully", etc.)?		
7.	Was there variation in the kind of learner participation? (Instructor-group, instructor-learner)?		
8.	Were pauses used to give learners time to think, to pay attention, to emphasize a point?		
9.	Were visual materials used to enhance the oral information obtained by listening?		
10.	Were explanations clearly presented?		<del></del>
11.	Did the explanations cover the essential features?		
12.	Were the analogies, illustrations, and/or examples used, interesting?		
13.	Were the analogies, illustrations, and/or examples used, relevant?		
14.	Was the method of ending the lesson inter- esting in itself?		
15.	Was the relationship clear between the main part of the lesson and the ending (closure)?		
	•		

Comments:

•

APPENDIX F

# QUESTIONING/DISCUSSION EVALUATION GUIDE

.

.

		<u>Usually</u>	Some- times	<u>Rarely</u>
1.	Questions were clearly understood.			
2.	Questions were coherently expressed.	<del>,</del>		
3.	Pauses were used after asking questions.	<del></del>	<u></u>	<u> </u>
4.	Questions were directed at specific individuals.	·		
5.	Questions were distributed among the whole group.		·	<b></b> ;
6.	Prompting techniques were used if necessary in helping individuals to formulate answers.			
7.	Probing techniques were used to help individuals think more deeply about their answers.			
8.	The teacher answered his/her own questions.		<u> </u>	<u></u>
9.	The teacher asked questions in a non- threatening manner.	·		
10.	Lower and higher order questions were used effectively.			<u></u> ,
11.	Most members of the group participated in the discussion.			
12.	The discussion leader summarized the main points of the discussion.			

•

APPENDIX G

•

## LECTURE EVALUATION GUIDE

Rate each of the criteria by checking the appropriate column where:

	G = Good Ade = Adequate	N.I. N.A.	= Needa = Not A			
			<u>G</u>	Ade	<u>N.I.</u>	<u>N.A.</u>
1.	Body movements and gestures		·		·	<u> </u>
2.	Eye contact			<u> </u>		<u> </u>
3.	Speech - clarity, rate and loudness					
4.	Exhibits interest in topic			<del></del>	<u> </u>	
5.	Exhibits self-confidence		·			<del></del>
6.	Talks in a conversational manner fro an outline	m			<del></del>	·
7.	Has knowledge of subject		<u> </u>	<u> </u>		
8.	Material is well organized				·	·
9.	Amount of material is suited to the time alloted				<del></del>	
10.	Objectives are made clear					·
11.	Introduction is appropriate		·	<u> </u>	<u> </u>	
12.	Main points are presented clearly			·		
13.	Content is based on objectives					<del></del>
14.	Appropriate examples, illustrations, etc., are used to illustrate main points		<u> </u>	<u></u> ,		<del></del>
15.	Explains clearly					
16,	Uses questioning effectively					
17.	Summarizes appropriately, especially					I
	at end			<del></del>		•• <u>•</u>
18.	Uses audiovisuals effectively		•		<u> </u>	

APPENDIX H

Goals:

1. To improve certain identified clinical teaching skills of the resident physicians.

2. To develop critical self-evaluation skills which would enable continued improvement after the completion of the program.

Objectives:

I. Planning and Organization.

The learners will be able to:

Distinguish between general and specific instructional objectives.

2. Write specific instructional objectives.

3. Carry out elementary topic analyses.

4. Apply the knowledge of writing objectives and lesson planning by developing a five-minute lesson on a concept of their choice.

II. Delivery Techniques.

The learners will be able to:

1. Identify the main characteristics of effectively beginning and ending a presentation.

2. Use their voice, body language, and eye contact to enhance a presentation.

3. Demonstrate effective delivery techniques and introducing and concluding a lesson by presenting the five-minute lesson prepared for Unit 1. III. Discussion/Questioning Techniques.

The learners will be able to:

1. State the characteristics of effective discussionleading techniques.

2. State the characteristics of effective questioning techniques.

3. Select a topic and develop questions which represent different levels of thinking.

4. Plan and lead a five to ten minute small group discussion utilizing questioning techniques.

IV. Demonstration Techniques/Use of Audiovisuals.

The learners will be able to:

1. State the characteristics of an effective demonstration.

2. State the basic principles of selection of audiovisuals to support and enhance a presentation.

3. State the basic principles of designing effective visuals.

4. Design an effective visual for a transparency on the assigned topic.

V. Lecture Techniques.

The learners will be able to:

1. State the characteristics of providing clear explanations.

 Select appropriate examples, illustrations, analogies, etc., to illustrate main ideas.

3. Demonstrate the ability to provide clear explanations during a simulated physician-patient encounter.

4. Plan and present a five-minute lecture demonstrating effective lecture techniques, and use of audiovisuals.

APPENDIX I

EBEL'S INTRACLASS	CORRELATIONS	FOR IN	TER-RATER	RELIABILITY

Person	Rater		ΣXα	
	A	B	<u>(A+B)</u>	$(\Sigma X_{p})^{2}$
1	3.48	3.44	6.92	47.89
2	3.52	3.55	7.07	49.98
3	3.71	3.67	7.38	<u>54.46</u>
Xr	10,71	10.66	21.37	152.33

The sum of squares for persons:

$$\Sigma d^{2}p = \frac{\Sigma}{k} - \frac{(\Sigma X_{p})^{2}}{k} - \frac{(\Sigma X)^{2}}{kN}$$

$$\Sigma d^{2}p = \frac{152.33}{2} - \frac{(21.37)^{2}}{(2)(3)}$$

$$\Sigma d^{2}p = 76.17 - 76.11 = 0.06$$

The sum of squares for raters:

$$\Sigma d_{r}^{2} = \Sigma \frac{(\Sigma X_{r})^{2}}{N} - \frac{(\Sigma X)^{2}}{kN}$$

$$\Sigma d_{r}^{2} = \frac{(10.71)^{2} + (10.66)^{2}}{3} - \frac{(21.37)^{2}}{(2)(3)}$$

$$\Sigma d_{r}^{2} = 76.11 - 76.11 = 0.00$$

The total sum of squares:

$$EX^{2}_{t} = EX^{2} - \frac{(EX)^{2}}{kN}$$

$$EX^{2} = 76.17 - \frac{(21.37)^{2}}{(2)(3)}$$

$$EX^{2}_{t} = 76.17 - 76.11 = 0.06$$

The sum of squares for remainder:

$$\Sigma d_{e}^{2} = \Sigma x_{t}^{2} - \Sigma d_{p}^{2} - \Sigma d_{r}^{2}$$
  
 $\Sigma d_{e}^{2} = 0.06 - 0.06 - 0.00 = 0.00$ 

Source	<u>Sum of Squares</u>	Freedom	Variance
From Persons	0,06	2 (N-1)	0.03
From Raters	0.00	1(k-1)	0.00
From Remainder	0,00	<u>2 (N-1) (k-1)</u>	0,00
Total	0.96	5 Nk-1	0.012

Variance:	r =	$v_p - v_e$
	-	v <sub>p</sub>
	~ =	0.030 - 0.00
	0.03	0.030

r = 1.00

131
Subject	Intra-Rater Religbility for Rater A						
	Rating 1 X	· Rating 2 Y	x <sup>2</sup>	¥2	: <b>XY</b>		
1	3.44	3.55	11,83	12,60	12.21		
2	3,55	3.66	12.60	13,40	12.99		
3	3.67	3.77	13.47	14.21	13.84		
Sum	10,66	10,98	37,90	40.21	39.04		

r = 1.0

•

.

	<u>Intra-Rater Reliability for Rater B</u>						
Subject	Rating 1 X	Rating 2 Y	x <sup>2</sup>	¥2	XY		
1	3.48	3.52	12,11	12;39	12.25		
· 2	3,52	3,55	12.39	12,60	12.50		
	3.63	3.67	13.18	13.47	13,32		
Sum	10.63	10,74	37.68	38,46	38.07		

r = 1.0

٠

.

.

Т

.

.

.

•

,

VITA

133

.

## VITA

,

.

## BARBARA KINDERNAY LAWSON

Personal Data:	Date of Birth: September 2, 1938 Place of Birth: Rahway, New Jersey Marital Status: Married
Education:	Public Schools, Miami and Hollywood, Florida East Tennessee State University, Johnson City, Tennessee; biology, secondary education, B.S., 1960; biology, M.A., 1965.
Professional Experience:	Doctoral Fellow, East Tennessee State University; Johnson City, Tennessee, 1978-1979, 1976-1977. Assistant Professor, Health Sciences, East Tennessee State University, Johnson City, Tennessee, 1965- 1976.
	Research Assistant, East Tennessee State University, Johnson City, Tennessee, 1964-1965.
	Teacher, Blacksburg High School, Blacksburg, Virginia, 1961-1964.
	Graduate Assistant, East Tennessee State University, Johnson City, Tennessee, 1960-1961.
Honors:	Phi Delta Kappa Whole Who in American Colleges and Universities
	Kappa Delta Pi
	Outstanding Chemistry Student, East Tennessee State University. Phi Society

.